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@ pakertilly

Independent Auditors' Report

To the Board of Directors of
West Branch Area School District

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activity, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of West Branch Area School District
{the District), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the District's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activity, each major fund and
the aggregate remaining fund information of the District as of June 30, 2024 and the respective changes in
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the the Disfrict and to meet our other
ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Notes 1 and 17, the District adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 100, effective
July 1, 2023, Qur opinions are not modified with respect to this matter.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the the District's ability to continue as a
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known
information that may raise substantiat doubt shortly thereafter.

Baker Tilly Advisory Group, LP and Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, are members of the globa! network of Baker Tilly
International Lid., the members of which are separate and independent legal entities. Baker Tilly US, LLP is a licensed CPA firm that
provides assurance services to its clients. Baker Tilly Advisory Group, LP and its subsidiary entities provide tax and consulling services
to their dlients and are not licensed CPA firms. 1



Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance aboul whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatemant
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:
» Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

» |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the the District’s internal contral. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

+ Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregale, that
raise substantial doubt about the the District's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable
period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other maltters, the
planned scope and {iming of the audit, significant audit findings and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required
supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be presented {0 supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and
olher knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance,



Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the District's basic financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required
by Title 2 U.S.Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles,
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a
required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of
expenditures of federa awards is fairly stated in all material respects, in refation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.

The General Fund schedule of revenues, expenditures and change in fund balance (pages 62-63) has not
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and,
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or proivde any assurance on it

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 12, 2025 on
our consideration of the District's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of
that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District's internal control over financial
reporting and compliance.

~7
BLfeor. Jibly 05, 27
State College, Pennsyivania
May 12, 2025
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Mark Mitchell, Superintendent

Management Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
June 30, 2024

The discussion and analysis of the financial performance of West Branch Area School District {the District)
provides an overall review of the District's financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024.

The intent of this discussion is to review the financial statements and accompanying notes to the financial
statements fo enhance the reader's understanding of the District's financial performance.

The Management Discussion and Analysis (MD8A) is an element of the reporting model adopted by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) in their Statement No. 34 Basic Financial Statements
and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governmenls issued June 1999. Certain
comparative information between the current year and the prior year is required to be presented in the MD&A.

Financial Highlights

Total net position (deficit) of the District at the close of the most recent fiscal year was $(2,423,356). The
Capital Projects Fund restricted fund balance in the amount of $8,389,763 is for the Elemeniary Renovation
Project including a complete renovation to the current structure and addition of a music and STEM
classrooms and a new large group instruction area.

The District's total net position improved by $2,414,218. Net position of governmental activilies improved by
$2,394,254 while net position of the business-type aclivity improved by $19,964.

As of the close of the fiscal year, the District's governmental funds reported a combined ending fund

balance of $19,650,175, an improvement of $9,587,890 from the prior year. $2,077,046 of this amount is
available for spending at the District's discretion {General Fund Unassigned Fund Balance) while $8,389,763
of this amount must be used for capital projects in accordance with Section 1432 of the Municipal Code.

The District has also restricted $42,285 for student activities and scholarships. The District has committed
$9,055,863 of the General Fund Balance for future costs of contributions to the Public School Employees'
Retirement System (PSERS) and for future capital projects. The District has assigned $34,094 for athletics
and band uniforms. The District also has $51,024 of restricted funds related to a special education
compensatory fund, and for fulure dental insurance costs.

At the end of the fiscal year, the unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $2,077,046, or 9.8% of
the 2024-2025 total budgeted General Fund expenditures.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This annual report consists of three parts: management discussion and analysis (this section), the basic
financial statements, and the required supplementary information. The basic financial statements include
two kinds of statements that present different views of the District:

The first two statements are government-wide financial statements, the statement of net position (deficit)
and the statement of activities. These provide both long-term and short-term information about the District's
overall financial status.



West Branch Area Schoo! District

Management's Discussion and Analysis {{naudited)
June 30, 2024

The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts of the District's
operations in more detail than the government-wide financial statements. The governmental fund statements
tell how general District services were financed in the short-term as well as what remains for future spending.
Proprietary fund statements offer short-term and long-term financial information about the activities the District
operates similar to business in the private sector, which for the District is the Food Service Fund.

The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial statements
and provide more detailed data.

Figure A-1 shows how the required parts of the Financial Section are arranged and relate to one another:
Figure A-1

Required Components of the District's Financial Report
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West Branch Area School District

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

June 30, 2024

Figure A-2 summarizes the major features of the District’s financial statements, including the portion of
the District they cover and the types of information they contain. The remainder of this overview section of
the management's discussion and analysis explains the structure and contents of each of the statements,

Figure A-2
Major Features of the District's
Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

Fund Statements

Government-Wide
Statements

Governmental Funds

Proprietary Funds

Scope

Entire District

The activities of the
District that are not
proprietary or fiduciary,
such as education,
administration and
student activities

The activities the District
operates similar to
private business - Food
Services

Required Financial
Statements

Statement of Net Position
(Deficit), Statement of
Activities

Balance Sheet,
Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures and
Changes in Fund
Balances

Balance Sheet,
Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Change
in Net Position,
Statement of Cash
Flows

Accounting Basis and
Measurement Focus

Accrual accounting and
economic resources
focus

Modified accrual
accounting and current
financial resources
focus

Accrual accounting and
economic resources
focus

Type of Asset/Liability
Information

All assets, capital assets,
deferred outflows of
resources, liabilities,
deferred inflows of
resources, capital
leases, and short &
long-term notes

Only assets expected to
be used up and
liabilities that come due
during the year or soon
thereafter; no capital
assets or long term debt
included

All assets, capital assets,
linbilities, capital leases,
and short & long-term
noles

Type of Inflow -
Outflow Information

All revenues and
expenses during the
year; regardless of
when cash is received
or paid

Revenue for which cash
is received during or
after the end of the
year, expenditures
when goods or services
have been received and
payment is due during
the year or soon
thereafter

All revenues and
expenses during the
year; regardless of
when cash is received
or paid




West Branch Area School District

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
June 30, 2024

Government-Wide Statements

The government-wide statements report information about the District as a whole using accounting methods
similar to those used by private-sector companies. The statement of net position {deficit) includes all of the
District's assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. All of the current
year's revenue and expenses are accounted for in the statement of activities regardless of when cash is
received or paid.

The two government-wide statements report the District's net position (deficit} and how it has changed.
Net position (deficit), the difference between the District's assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities
and deferred inflows of resources, are one way to measure the District's financial health or position.

QOver time, increases or decreases in the District's net position (deficit) are indications of whether its financial
health is improving or deteriorating, respectively.

To assess the overall health of the District, you need to consider additional nonfinancial factors, such as
changes to the District's property tax base and the performance of the students.

The government-wide financial statemenis of the District are divided into two categories:
Governmental Activities - All of the District's basic services are included here, such as instruction,

administration and student activities. Property taxes and state and federal subsidies as well as grants finance
most of these activities.

Business-Type Activities - The District operates a food service program and charges fees to staff, students
and visitors to help cover the costs of operation.

Fund Financial Statements

The District's fund financial statements provide detailed information about the most significant funds - not
the District as a whole. Some funds are required by law and by bond issue requirements.

Governmental Funds - Most of the District's activities are reported in the governmental funds, which focus
on the determination of financial position and change in financial position, not on income determination.
They are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting, which measures cash
and all other financial assets that can readily be converted {o cash. The governmental fund statements
provide a detailed short-term view of the District's operations and the services it provides. Governmental
fund information helps the reader determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can
be spent in the near future {o finance the District's programs. The relationship (or differences) between
governments activities (reported in the statement of net position (deficit) and the statement of activities)
and governmental funds is reconciled in the financial statements.

Proprietary Funds - These funds are used to account for the District's activities that are similar to business
operations in the private sector; or where the reporting is on determining net income, financial position,
changes in the financial position and a significant portion of funding is received through user charges.

When the District charges customers for services it provides - whether to outside customers or to other

units in the District - these services are generally reported in proprietary funds. The Food Service Fund is
the District's proprietary fund and is the same as the business-type activity we report in the government-wide
statements, but provide more detail and additional information, such as cash flows.




West Branch Area School District

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
June 30, 2024

Government-Wide Financial Analysis

The District's Total Net Position (Deficit) was negative $(2,423,356) at June 30, 2024 as compared to
negative $(4,837,574) at June 30, 2023. Table A-1 provides a condensed comparison of the years.

The District does not operate its own pension plan, but is a mandatory participant in the Public School
Employees’ Retirement System (PSERS). Each year PSERS calculates its own Net Pension Liability and
assigns a portion of this Net Pension Liability to the participating employers.

Of the District's $(2,423,356) in governmental activities net position (deficit), $1,165,656 is invested in capita!
assets (buildings, land, land improvements and equipment, net of related debt). The remaining net position
(deficit) is a combination of resltricted and unrestricted amounts. The District has the following balances as of
June 30, 2024 $8,483,072 is restricted for the Capital Projects, Dental Care and Compensatory Fund. The
remaining negative $(12,517,902) is unrestricted.

Table A-1
Net Position {Deficit) (Government-Wide)
Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2024 2023
Governmental Business-Type Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activity Total Activities Activity Total
Assets
Current and other assets $ 13650682 % 437426 § 14088108 § 13,140421 $ 417217 $ 13,557,638
Noncurrent assets 24,135,880 124,778 24,260,658 13,828,238 148,915 13,977,153
Total assets 37,786,562 562,204 38,348,766 26,968,659 566,132 27,534,791
Deferred Outflows 4,412,659 18,568 4,431,227 3,996,541 17,258 4,013,799
Total assels and
deferred outflows $ 42,189,221 $ 580,772 § 42779093 § 30965200 § 583,390  § 31,548,590
Liabilities
Current liabilities $ 28634620 § 30843 § 2665572 § 261165 § 45703 § 2,657,358
Long-term liabilities:
Due within one year 1,027,565 - 1,027,565 1,011,222 - 1,011,222
Due afier one year 39,348,694 98,232 39,446,926 29,898 626 103,455 30,002,081
Total liabilities 43,010,888 128,175 43,140,063 33,521,503 149,158 33,670,661
Deferred Inflows 2,057,507 5,779 2,063,286 2,707,125 8,378 2,715,503
Net Position {Deflcit)
Net investment in capital
assets 1,165,656 124,778 1,290,434 8,913,229 148,915 9,062,144
Restricted 8,483,072 18,430 8,501,502 273,310 26,104 299,414
Unrestricted (deficit) (12,517,902) 302,610 {12,215,292) (14,449,967) 250,835 {14,199, 132)
Total net position
{deficit} {2,869,174) 445,818 (2,423,356) {5,263,428) 425,854 {4,837.574)

Total liabilities,
deferred inflows and
net position (deficit) $ 42199221 $ 580,772 $ 42,779,993 $ 30,965,200 $ 583,390 $ 31,548,590




West Branch Area School District

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
June 30, 2024

The results of this year's operations as a whole are reported in the statement of activities. All expenses are
reported in the first column. Specific charges, grants, revenues and subsidies that directly relate to specific
expense categories are represented to determine the fina! amount of the District's activities that are supported
by other general revenues. The two largest general revenues are the Basic Education Subsidy provided by
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and the local taxes assessed to community taxpayers.

Table A-2 takes the information from the statement of aclivities and rearranges it slightly so you can see the
totat revenues for the year.

Table A-2
Statement of Activities (Government-Wide)
Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2024 2023
Governmental  Business-Type "7 "Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activity Total Activities Activity Total
Revenues
Program revenues:
Charges for services $ 29674 % 116,536 $ 146,210  §$ 31158 § 180,367 $ 211,525
Operating grants and
contributions 7,551,283 641,911 8,193,194 7,434 769 549,224 7,983,993
General revenues:
General taxes 5,619,415 - 5,619,415 5,246,430 : 5,246,430
Grants, subsidies and
contributions,
unrestricted 8,537 497 - 8,537,497 8,027,982 - 8,027,982
Other 1,203,725 10,143 1,213,868 300,906 5,583 306,489
Total revenues 22,941,594 768,590 23,710,184 21,041,245 735,174 21,776,419
Expenses
Instruction 12,244,216 - $2,244,216 10,956,789 - 10,956,789
Instructional student
support 1,492,509 - 1,492,509 1,571,169 - 1,571,169
Administration and
financial support 1,091,847 - 1,691,847 1,467,046 - 1,467,046
Operation and
maintenance of plant 2,680,863 - 2,680,863 2,642,666 - 2,642,666
Pupil transportation 1,231,685 - 1,231,685 1,189,585 - 1,189,585
Student aclivilies 592,649 - 592,649 600,786 - 600,786
Interest of long-term debt 413,571 - 413,571 67,634 - 67,634
Food services - 748,626 748,626 - 733,753 733,763
Total expenses 20,547,340 748,626 21,295,966 18,495,675 733,753 19.229.428
Increase (decrease)
in net position § 2394254 8§ 19064 § 2414218 § 2545570 § 1421 § 2,546,991

Other revenue increased in the current year by $907,379 compared to the prior year. This was due to the
banks interest rates increasing due to the market prime rate increasing which led to better returns for the
District.

Instruction expenses increased approximately $1,290,000 or 12% compared to the prior year. This was due to
an increase in personnel costs, special education costs and vocational education expenses. Administration
and financial support services increased approximately $425,000 or 29% compared to prior year. This was
due to debt issuance expenses. Interest on long-term debt increased approximately $346,000 or 511%
compared to prior year. This was due to new debt issuance at the beginning of fiscal year 2024,



West Branch Area School District

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
June 30, 2024

Tables A-3 and A-4 below present the expenses of both the Governmental Activities and the Business-Type
Activity of the District.

Table A-3 shows the District's seven largest functions - instructional programs, instructionat student support,
administrative, operation and maintenance of plant, pupil transportation, student activities and interest of
long-term debt as well as each program's net cost {total cost less revenues generated by the activities).

This table shows the net costs offset by other unrestricted grants, subsidies and contributions 1o show

the remaining financial needs supported by local taxes and other miscellaneous revenues.

Table A-3
Governmental Activities
Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2024 2023
Total Cost Net Cost Total Cost Net Cost
of Services of Services of Services of Services
Functions/Programs
Instruction $ 12,244,216 $ 6,160,937 $ 10,956,789 $ 5,027,130
Instruction student support 1,492,509 1,481,997 1,571,169 1,557,011
Administration and financial
support 1,891,847 1,891,847 1,467,046 1,467,046
Operation and maintenance
of plant 2,680,863 2,680,863 2,642,666 2,642 666
Pupil transportation 1,231,685 85,650 1,189,585 368,423
Student activities 592,649 204,786 600,786 168,859
Interest of long-term debt 413,571 370,303 67,634 (201,387)
Total governmental
activities $ 20,547,340 12,966,383 $ 18,495,675 11,029,748
Less unrestricted grants and
subsidies (8,537,497} (8,027,982)
Total $ 4428886 3 3,001,766

Table A-4 reflecls the activities of the Food Service program, the only Business-Type Activity of the District.

Table A-4
Business-Type Activity
Fiscal Year Ended June 30

2024 2023
Total Cost Net Cost Totat Cost Net Cost
of Services of Services of Services of Services
Functions/Programs
Food services $ 748,626 $ (9.821) % 733,753 $ 4,162
Investment earnings (10,143) (5,583)
Total $ (19,964) $ (1,421)

The statement of revenues, expenses and change in net position for this proprietary fund will further detail the
actual results of operations.

10



West Branch Area School District

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
June 30, 2024

Financial Analysis of the Government Funds

As noted earlier, the District uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related
legal requirements,

Governmental Funds - The focus of the District's governmental funds is to provide information on the
near-term inflows, outftows and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing
the District’s financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure
of a district's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

As of the end of the year, the District's governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of
$19,650,175 which is an increase of $9,587,890 (95.3%) from the prior year.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the District. At the end of the fiscal year, the unassigned
fund balance of the General Fund was $2,077,046. As a measure of the General Fund's liquidity, it may be
useful to compare the General Fund's unassigned fund balance to tota! budgeted expenditures of the next
fiscal year. The unassigned fund balance represents 9.8% of the 2024-2025 budgeted expenditures, which is
in line with the Government Finance Officers Association recommended range. During the fiscal year, the
District's General Fund total fund balances increased by $1,296,571. Key factors that contributed to this
increase were as follows:

Revenues:

Overall, the District received 106% of the budgeted revenues. Local, state and federal revenues were greater
than budgeted.

Expenditures:

Most expenditures were in line or under budget with respect to the budgetary functions. The major exceptions
to this are the following:

Regular programs was $103,177 more than budgeted.
Special programs was $338,202 more than budgeted.
Central was $237,086 more than budgeted.

Student activities was $67,026 more than budgeted.

Overall, the District expended 99.5% of the budgeted expenditures.

Significant budget variances are addressed at Table A-5 and the narrative that follows.

The District also operated a Capital Projects Fund which is authorized under Section 1432 of the Municipal
Code. Expenditures from this fund are limited to: capital improvements, replacement of and additions to public
works and improvements, for deferred maintenance thereof, and for the purchase or the replacement of
school buses, and for no other purpose.

The District's Capital Projects total fund balance was $8,389,763 at June 30, 2024. It increased by

$8,281,132 over the prior year. The District will allocate the majority of these funds for a new project within the
guidelines of Section 1432 in the near future.

11



West Branch Area School District

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
June 30, 2024

General Fund Budget

During the fiscal year, the District Board of Directors (the Board) may authorize revisions to the original
budget to accommodate differences from the original budget to the actual expenditures of the District. All
adjustments are again confirmed after the Annual Financial Report (AFR) is substantially completed, which is
after the end of the fiscal year, as permitted by state law. A schedule showing the District's original and final
budget amounts compared with the amounts actually paid and received is provided on page 22 of the
financial statements. There were no revisions to the original budget in the current fiscal year.

The District applies for federal, state and local grants and these grants cannot always be anticipated during
the budget process. If additional grants are received during the year, these grants are added to the revenue
and expenditure budgets.

The Budgetary Reserve is used for opportunities or expenditures for improvements and enhancements to
District operations that were unforeseen at the time the budget was adopted. The budget called for the use of
$124,170 from the budgetary reserve for the 2023-2024 school year. The 2023-2024 actual results added
$1,403,571 to the budgetary reserve before transfers.

Significant Budget Variances

Table A-5 reflects the Budget Variances for both Revenues and Expenditures. In an effort to reduce the need
for an increased local tax effort, revenues are budgeted conservatively, while expenditures are budgeted
aggressively. An explanation of the differences is stated below.

Table A-5
General Fund
Actual to Budget Variances
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024

Budgeted Actual Actual as %
Amount Amount Difference of Budget
Revenues
6000 Local sources $ 6,286,398 $ 6,695589 $ 409,191 106.51 %
7000 State sources 13,056,954 13,757,682 700,728 105.37
8000 Federal sources 1,519,395 1,786,196 266,801 117.56
Total revenues and
sources 20,862,747 22,239,467 1,376,720 106.60
Expenditures
1000 Instruction 12,463,406 12,595,996 (132,590) 101.06
2000 Support services 6,550,208 6,324 437 225,771 96.55
3000 Noninstructional 437,893 504,919 (67,026) 115.31
4000 Facilities - 42,096 (42,096) {100.00)
5000 Debt Service 1,480,410 1,368,448 111,962 92.44
Total expenditures and
uses 20,931,917 20,835,896 96,021 99.54
{Deficiency) excess of
revenues (under)
over expenditures $ (69,170) % 1,403,571 $ 1,472,741 (2,029.16)

12



West Branch Area School District

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
June 30, 2024

Revenues

Local Revenues:

Earned income tax revenue was up 15%, or $103,944, from budget. Revenues from interest income earned
on bank accounts at the District were up $358,876 more than budgeted. This was due to the District not being
able to predict the interest rates that would be available during the fiscal year.

State Reventues:

The state provides reimbursements and grants for several different programs and services that the District
provides to students. Each reimbursement or grant is budgeted prior to the final state budget being approved.
Due fo this timing concern, state revenues, similar to local revenues, are budgeted conservatively. The basic
education subsidy was over budget by approximately $269,000. Both the special education subsidy and pupil
transportation subsidy were also under budget by approximately $250,000 each.

Federal Revenues:

The District received $110,665 more in Title IA low income funding than budgeted during the fiscal year..
Expenditures

The majority of the budgeted expenditure figures are estimates. Furthermore, the District has limited or no
control over several significantly large expenditures such as tuition for cyber schools and tuition for approved
special education private schools. The 2023-2024 Special programs of expenditures was $338,202 or 12%
over budget. The most significant deviation of actual under budgeted expenditure was experienced in salaries
and wages where the District budgeted more than necessary. This was due to the changing of several staff
members.

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital Assels:

The District's investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activity as of June 30, 2024
is summarized below.

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activity Total

Land $ 12,292 $ - $ 12,292
Construction in progress 1,431,836 - 1,431,836
Buildings and improvements 30,536,238 - 30,536,238
Equipment and other capital assets 2,875,973 589,090 3,465,063
Leased asseis 80,616 - 80,616

Total 34,936,955 589,090 35,526,045
Accumulated depreciation (19,975,047) (464,312) {20,439,359)

Net $ 14,961,908 $ 124,778 $ 15,086,686

Over the past several years, the District has completed several construction projects as well as other
improvements to District property. The District is currenfly in the beginning stages of a renovation to the
elementary school. The values of these projects, net of depreciation, are included in the Capital Assets.
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West Branch Area School District

Management's Discussion and Analysis {Unaudited)
June 30, 2024

Debt Administration:

As of June 30, 2024, the District's long-term liabilities were $39,446,926. This includes net other
postemployment benefit liability of $3,996,579, compensated absences of $260,660, long-term debt payable
of $12,757,415, obligations incurred under leases of $11,272 and a net pension liability of $22,421,000.

Detailed information about long-term liabilities is included in the Notes to the Financial Statements.
Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget and Rates

The tax base in Clearfield and Clinton Counties has remained level with only minimal growth in the local tax
base. The District has been experiencing a slightly declining student enroltment for many years and this trend
is expected to continue based on enrollment projections by the Pennsylvania Department of Education. The
District administration will need to continue to monitor the building capacity, participation in various programs
and class size when making facility, staffing and program decisions based on district enrollment trends.

The revenue budget for the 2024-2025 year, $20,763,330, is $99,417 less than the budget for 2023-2024.
This represents a .050% decrease in budgeted revenues. The decrease in budgeted revenue is due to the
reduction in Federal ESSER funding. The expenditure budget for the 2024-2023 vear, $21,187,786, is
$200,869 more than the budget for 2023-2024, which is an increase of 1.0%. The increase in expenditures is
primarily the result of projecting for rising costs along with rising salaries and wages. The 2023-2024 budget
requires the use of $424,318 from the committed fund balance to balance.

Labor Relations

The West Branch Education Association, an affiliation of Pennsylvania State Education Association (PSEA),
represents the professional staff of the District. This group represents 77 employees, including teachers,
librarians, counselors and nurses. The District entered into a contract, effective July 1, 2020 through June 30,
2025. Health insurance contributions by District employees range from $73 - $167 per month for the duration
of the contract.

The West Branch Education Support Professionals Association (the Association) represents the support
staff of the District. The Association represents 53 employees. This group includes custodians, secretaries,
paraeducators and cafeteria personnel. The current contract runs from July 1, 2019 until June 30, 2024.
The contract provides average annual hourly increases of 3%, longevity payments, health insurance for
employee and family, personal days, bereavement, emergency, vacation, life insurance and sick leave.
Health insurance contributions by District employees range from $35.42 - $75.00 annually. The contract
was renegotiated providing an approximale 4% increase for the years July 1, 2024 until June 30, 2029.

The remaining administrative and noninstructional personnel of the District are represented under ACT 93
compensation plan for principals, supervisor of special education, supervisor of buildings and grounds,

and information technology coordinator. The secretary to the superintendent, pupil services coordinators,
bookkeeper/payroll coordinator, and the network administrator have a separate Act 93 Non-Supervisor
compensation plan. The Act 93 Pians ran from July 1, 2023 until June 30, 2026. The annual average salary
increase for administrative personnel range from 0% to 3.5%. These groups contribute to health insurance
costs. The Act 93 Groups conlributes the same as the professional staff $73 to $167 per month. Other
benefits are simitar to other district employees.

14



West Branch Area School District

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
June 30, 2024

Contacting the District Financial Management

The West Branch Area School District financial report is designed to provide citizens, taxpayers, parents,
students, investors and creditors with a general overview of the District's finances and to show the Board's
accountability for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or wish to request additional
financial information, please contact Leslie Stott, Business Manager for the West Branch Area School District,
516 Allport Cutoff, Morrisdale, Pennsylvania 16858, and (814) 345-5615 x4850.
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West Branch Area School District

Staternent of Net Position {Deficit)

June 30, 2024

Assets and Defarred Outflows of Resources

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalent
Taxes receivable, net

5

Due from other governments

Internal balances
Other receivables
Inventories

Total current assets

Noncurrent Assets

Cash and cash equivalents held for capital projects

Land
Construction in progress

Bulldings and improvements
Equipment and other capital assets

Accumulaled depreciation

Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Other postemployment bel
Pension

nefits

Total deferred outflows of resources

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources

Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounls payable

and Net Position (Deficit)

Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion lease liability
Accrued salaries and benefits

Unearned revenue
Accrued interest

Tolal current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt
Lease liability

Other postemployment benefits liability

Compensaled absences
Net pension liability

Total noncurrent liabililies

Total {iabitities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Other postemployment benefits

Pension
Total deferred inflo

Net Position (Deficit)

ws of resources

Net investment in capilal assets

Restricted
Unreslricled (deficit)

Total net position (deficit)

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of rasources
and net position (deficit)

Governmental Business-Type

Aclivities Activity Total
$ 10985106 % 429,384 $ 11,414,490
639,065 - 689,065
1,924,390 - 1,924,390
9,688 (9.888) -
42,233 - 42,233
- 17,930 17,930
13,650,682 437,426 14,088,108
9,173,972 - 9,173,872
12,282 - 12,292
1,431,836 - 1,431,836
30,536,238 - 30,536,238
2,956,589 589,090 3,545,679
(19,975,047} (464,312) {20,439,359)
24,135,880 124,778 24,260,658
37,786,562 562,204 38,348,766
586,749 2,604 589,353
3.825,910 15,964 3,841,874
4,412,659 18,568 4.431,227
§ 42,199,221 $ 580,772 § 42,779,993
$ 305745 § 12513 % 318,258
1,011,000 - 1,011,000
16,565 - 16,565
2,264,883 - 2,264,883
- 18,430 18,430
64,001 - 64,001
3,662,194 30,943 3,693,137
12,757,415 - 12,757,415
11,272 - 11,272
3,992,284 4,295 3,996,578
259,895 765 260,680
22,327 828 93,172 22,421,000
39,348,694 98,232 39,446,926
43,010,888 129,175 43,140,063
1,430,125 3,169 1,433,286
627,382 2,618 630,000
2,057,507 5,779 2,063,256
1,165,656 124,778 1,290,434
8,483,072 18,430 8,501,502
(12,517,902) 302,610 {12,215,292)
{2.869,174) 445,818 (2,423,356)
$ 42,199,221 $ 580,772 % 42,779,993

See notes to financial statements
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West Branch Area School District

Balance Sheet - Gavernmental Funds
June 30, 2024

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and
cash equivalents
Taxes receivable, net
Due from other governments
Due from other funds
Other receivables

Total

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Fund Balances

Liabflities
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Due to other funds
Accrued salaries and benefits

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues, taxes

Fund Balances
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total

Major Funds
Capital Nonmajor

General Projects Funds Total
$ 10,942,821 $ R 42285 § 10,985,106
- 9,173,972 § 9,173,972
689,065 - 689,085
1,924,390 - 1,924,380
794,007 - 794,087
42,233 - - 42,233
$ 143928606 & 9173972 § 42,285 $ 23,608,863
$ 305745 § . $ - 5 305,745
- 784,209 784,209
2,264,883 - - 2,264,883
2,570,628 784,209 - 3,354,837
603,851 - - 603,851
51,024 8,389,763 42,285 8,483,072
9,055,963 - - 9,055,963
34,094 - - 34,094
2,077,046 2 : 2,077,046
11,218,127 8,389,763 42,285 19,650,175
$ 14,392,606 $ 9173972 § 42,285 § 23,608,863

See notes to financial statements
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West Branch Area School District
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet fo the Statement of Net Position {Deficit)
June 30, 2024

Total Fund Balance - Governmental Funds $ 19,650,175

Amounts reported for governmental activities
in the statement of net position (deficit) are different because:

Capital assels used in governmental activities are long-term
financial resources, and therefore, are not reporied as
assets in governmental funds. The cost of assets is
$34,936,955 and the accumulated depreciation is $19,975,047. 14,961,908

Property taxes receivable will be collected this year,
but are not available soon enough to pay for the
current period's expenditures, and therefore, are
unearned in the governmental funds. 603,851

Deferred outflows related to net pension liabitity
are not reported in the governmental funds, however
are reported in the statement of net position (deficit). 3,825,910

Deferred inflows related to net pension liability
are not reported in the governmental funds, however
are reported in the statement of net position (deficit). (627,382)

Deferred outflows related to net OPEB liability
are not reported in the governmental funds, however
are reported in the statement of net position (deficit). 586,749

Deferred inflows related to net OPER liability
are not reported in the governmental funds, however
are reported in the statement of net position (deficit). (1.430,125)

Long-term liabilities, including notes payable, are not
due and payable in the current period, and therefore
are not reported as liabilities in the governmental funds.
Long-term liabilities at year end consist of:

Notes payable {13,768,415)
Lease liability (27,837)
Accrued interest on long-term debt (64,001)
Other postemployment benefits liability (OPEB) (3,992,284)
Compensated absences (259,895)
Net pension fiability {22,327,828)
Total Net Deficit - Governmental Activities $  (2,869,174)

See notes to financial statements
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West Branch Area School District

Statement of ﬁevenues. Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Revenues
Local sources
State sources
Federal sources

Total revenues

Expenditures
Instructicn
Support services
Noninstruclional services
Facilities acquisition, construction and
improvement services
Debt service

Total expenditures

Excess (deficit} of revenues over
expenditures before other
financing {uses) sources

Other Financing (Uses) Sources
Proceeds from the issuance of
long-term debt
Original issue premium
Transfer out
Transfer in

Total other financing sources, net
Net changes in fund balances

Fund Balances, Beginning
as Previously Reported

Accounting Changes (see
Notes 1 and 17)

Fund Balances, Beginning
as Adjusted

Fund Balances, Ending

Major Funds

Capital Other
General Projects Nonmajor Total
¥ 6,695,589 $ 477,580 106,579 $ 7,278,748
13,757,682 - - 13,757,682
1,786,196 - - 1,786,196
22,239,467 477,580 106,579 22,823,626
12,595,986 - - 12,595,996
6,324,437 261,090 - 6,585,527
504,919 - 96,392 601,311
42,096 1,939,299 - 1,981,395
1,368,448 - - 1,368,448
20,835,896 2,200,389 96,392 23,132,677
1,403,571 {1,722,809) 10,187 (308,051)
- 9,785,050 - 9,785,050
- 111,891 - 111,891
{107,000) e - {107,000)
- 107,000 - 107,000
{107,000} 10,003,941 - 9,896,941
1,296,571 8,281,132 10,187 9,587,890
9,921,556 - 140,729 10,062,285
- 108,631 {108,631) -
9,921,556 108,631 32,098 10,062,285
$ 11,218,127 $ 8,389,763 42,285 $§ 19,650,175

See notes to financial statements
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West Branch Area School District

‘Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Stalement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances to the Statement of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2024

Total Net Changes in Fund Balances - Governmenta! Funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement
of net position {deficit) are different because:

Capital outfays are reported in governmental funds as expenditures.
However, in the statements of activities, the cost of those assets is
allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. This
is the amcunt by which capital outlays exceeds depreciation in the period:

Capital outlays $ 1,956,313
Depreciation expense (822,643}

Because some properiy taxes will not be collected for several months after
the District's fiscal year ends, they are not considered as “available”
revenues in the governmental funds. Unearned tax revenues increased
by this amount this year.

The issuance of iong-term debt provides current financial resources to
government funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt
consumes the current financial resources of government funds. The
transaction, however, does not have an effect on net position. Also,
governmental funds report the effect of premiums, discounts
and other similar items when debt is issued, whereas ihese amounts are
deferrad and amortized in the statement of activities. Reconciling tems related
to long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2024 are as follows:

Issuance of long-term debt (9,785,050)
Scheduled principal payments on long-term debt 995,000
Scheduled principal payments on lease liabilities 16,222
Bond issuance premium (111,891)
Bond premium amortization 4,476

Interest on long-term debt in the statement of activities differs from the amount
reported in the governmental funds because interest is recognized as an
expenditure in the funds when it is due, and thus requires the use of current
financlal resources. In the statement of activilies, interest expense is recognized
as the interest accrues, regardless of when it is due. The net additional interest
accrued in the statement of activities over the amount due is shown here.

Net pension liability is considered long-term in nature, and is not reported as a liability
within the funds. Such liability is, however, reported within the statement of
net position {deficit), and changes in the liability is reflected within the siatement of
net position (deficit). This represents the change in pension liability and the deferred
outflows and inflows related to the pension.

Net OPEB liability is considered long-term in nature, and is not reported as a liabifity
within the Funds. Such liability is, however, reporied within the statement of
net position {deficit), and changes in the liability is reflected within the statement of
net position (deficit). This represents the change in OPEB liability and the deferred
outflows and inflows related to the OPEB.

in the statement of activities, cerlain operaling expenses - compensaled absences
{vacations and sick days) are measured by the amounts earned during the year.
In the governmental funds, however, expenditures for these items are measured
by the amount of financiat rescurces used. This amount represents the difference
between the amount earned versus the amount used.

Change in Net Position (Deficit) of Governmental Activities

See notes to financial statements
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1,133,670

117,968

(8,881,243)

{44,599)
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West Branch Area School District

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual - General Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Variance
Budgeted With Final
Amount Budget
Original Favorable
and Final Actual {Unfavorable)
Revenues
Local sources $ 6,286,398 6,695,589 $ 409,191
State sources 13,056,954 13,757,682 700,728
Federal sources 1,519,395 1,786,196 266,801
Total revenues 20,862,747 22,239,467 1,376,720
Expenditures
Instruction:
Regular programs 7,986,403 8,089,580 (103,177)
Special programs 3,023,570 3,361,772 (338,202)
Vocational education programs 997,696 825,501 172,195
Pre-Kindergarten 298,715 268,401 30,314
Other instructional programs 157,022 50,742 106,280
Total instruction 12,463,406 12,595,996 {132,590)
Support services:
Pupil personnel 667,913 585,027 82,886
Instructional staff 845,075 495,414 349,661
Administration 1,162,307 1,113,031 49,276
Pupil health 444,747 468,395 (23,648)
Business 329,768 326,394 3,374
Operation and maintenance of plant services 1,861,670 1,867,405 {5,735)
Student transportation services 1,238,728 1,231,685 7,043
Central - 237,086 (237,086)
Tota! suppert services 6,550,208 6,324,437 225,771
Noninstructional services,
Student activities 437,893 504,919 (67,026)
Facilities acquisilion, construction and
improvement services - 42,096 {42,096)
Debt service 1,480,410 1,368,448 111,962
Total expenditures 20,931,917 20,835,896 96,021
Excess of revenues {under) over
expenditures before other
financing uses (69,170) 1,403,571 1,472,741
Other Financing Uses
Transfer {out) in {55,000) {107,000) {52,000)
Net changes in fund balances $ (124,170) 1,296,571 $ 1,420,741
Fund Balances, Beginning 9,921,556
Fund Balances, Ending

See notes lo financial statements
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West Branch Area School District

‘Balance Sheet - I-DFoprietary Fund - Food Service
June 30, 2024

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

Assets
Current assets:
Cash
inventories

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Machinery and equipment
Accumuiated depreciation

Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Other postemployment benefits
Pension

Total deferred outflows of resources
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources
Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable

Due to other funds
Unearned revenue

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences
Other postemployment benefits
Net pension liability

Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Other postemployment benefits
Pension

Total deferred inflows of resources

Net Position
Net investment in capital asseis
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net position

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position

See notes to financial statements
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429,384
17,930

447,314

589,090
(464,312)

124,778

572,092

2,604
15,964

18,568

590,660

12,513
9,888
18,430

40,831

765
4,295
93,172

98,232

139,063

3,161
2,618

5779

124,778
18,430
302,610

445,818

590,660




West Branch Area School District

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position - Proprietary Fund - Food Service
Year Ended June 30, 2024

Operating Revenues
Food service revenues $ 116,536

Operating Expenses

Other purchased services 312,040
Food, milk and supplies 282,223
Salaries and employee benefits 102,730
Operation and maintenance 27,471
Depreciation 24,137
Miscellaneous 25
Total operating expenses 748,626
Operating loss (632,090)
Nonoperating Revenues
Federal sources 583,793
State sources 58,118
Earnings on investments 10,143
Total nonoperating revenues - 652,054
Change in net position 19,964
Net Position, Beginning 425,854
Net Position, Ending 3 445,818

See notes to financial stalements
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West Branch Area School District

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Fund - Food Service
Year Ended June 30, 2024

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Cash received from customers $ 114,413
Cash paid to employees (111,862}
Cash paid to vendors {689,821}

Net cash used in operating activities (687,270}

Cash Flows Provided by Investing Activities
Earnings on investments 10,143

Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities

State sources 58,118
Federal sources 532,574
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 590,692

Change in cash 13,565

Cash, Beginning 415,819
Cash, Ending $ 429,384

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash
Used in Operating Activities
Operating loss $ (632,090)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
used in operating activities:

Depreciation 24,137
Pension changes (5.411)
OPEB changes (676)
USDA donated commodities used 45,668

Changes in assets and liabilities resulting in the
provisions (use) of cash:

Inventories (6.644)
Accounts payable (7.086)
Unearned revenue (2,123)
Compensated absences (3,045)
Net cash used in operating activities $ (587,270)

Noncash Operating, Noncapital Financing Activities
USDA donated commodities $ 45,668

See noles fo financial statements
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West Branch Area School District

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2024

1

Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policles

The financial statements of the West Branch Area School District (the District) have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as
applied to local government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the
accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles. The more significant accounting policies of the District are described below,

Nature of Operations

The District provides public education services to residents in portions of Clearfield and Clinton
Counties, Pennsylvania. The District operates a combined elementary and secondary schoal located
in Morrisdale, Pennsylvania.

The District assesses the taxpayers of these municipalities based upon taxing powers at its disposal.
The ability of the District's taxpayers to pay their assessments is dependent upon economic and other
factors affecting the taxpayers,

Reporting Entity

The reporting entily has been defined in accordance with the criteria established in GASB Statement
No. 14, The Financial Reporting Enfity, as amended. The specific criteria used in determining whether
other organizations should be included in the District's financial reporting entity are financial
accountability, fiscal dependency and legal separation.

As defined above, there are no other related organizations that should be included in the District's
financial staterents, nor is the District considered to be a component unit of any other government.

Basic Financial Statements, Government-Wide Statements

The District's basic financial statements include both government-wide (reporting the District as a
whole) and fund financial statements (reporting the District's major and nonmajor funds). Both the
government-wide and fund financial statements categorize primary activities as either governmental
or business-type. The District's General, Capital Projects and School Sponsored Activity and
Scholarships Funds are classified as governmental activities. The District's Food Service Fund

is classified as a business-type activity.

In the government-wide statement of net position (deficit), both the governmental and business-type
activity columns are presented on a consolidated basis by column and are reported on a full accrual,
economic resource basis, which recognizes all long-term assets, receivables and deferred outflows of
resources, as well as long-term debt and obligations and deferred inflows of resources. The Districl's
net position is reported in three parts: net investment in capital assets; restricted net position; and
unrestricted net position (deficit). The District first utilizes restricted resources to finance qualifying
activities.

The government-wide statement of activities reports both the gross and net cost of each of the
District's functions and business-type activities. The functions are also supported by general
government revenues. The statement of activities reduces gross expenses (including depreciation}
by related program revenues, operating and capital grants. Program revenues must be directly
associated with the function or a husiness-type activily. Operating grants include operating-specific
and discretionary (either operating or capital) grants while the capital grants column reflects
capital-specific grants.

The net costs (by function or business-type activity) are normally covered by general revenue.
The District does not allocate indirect costs.

This government-wide focus is more on the sustainability of the District as an entity and the change
in the District's net position resulting from the current year's activities.
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Basic Financial Statements, Fund Financial Statements

The financial transactions of the District are reported in individual funds in the fund financial
statements. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that
comprises its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and expenditures/expenses. The various funds
are reported by generic classification within the financial statements.

The following fund types are used by the District:

Governmental Funds

The focus of the governmental funds measurement {in the fund statements) is upon
determination of financial positicn and changes in financial position (sources, uses and
balances of financial resources) rather than upon net income. The following is a description
of the governmental funds of the District:

General Fund

The General Fund the main operating fund of the District and is used to account for all
financial transactions not accounted for in another fund. Revenues are primarily derived from
local property and earned income taxes, and state and federal appropriations. Many of the
more significant activities of the District, including instruction, administration and certain
noninstructional services are accounted for in this fund. The General Fund is reported as a
major fund.

Capital Projects Fund

The Capital Projects Fund accounts for the financial resources that are resiricted, committed
or assigned to expenditures for capital outlays, including the acquisition or construction of
capital facilities and other capital assets. The Capital Projects Fund is a major fund.

School Sponsored Activity and Scholarships Fund

The School Sponsored Activity and Scholarships Fund accounts for the monies authorized
by Section 511 of the Public School Code of 1949 for school publications and organizations.
The District's activity funds are Special Revenue Funds. The School Sponsored Activity and
Scholarships Fund are reported collectively as a nonmajor fund.

Proprietary Fund

The focus of proprietary fund measurement is upon determination of operating income, changes
in net position, financial position and cash flows. The applicable GAAP are those similar to
businesses in the private sector.

Food Service Fund

The Food Service Fund accounts for all revenues and expenditures pertaining to cafeteria
operations since such operations are financed and operated in a manner similar to private
business enterprises. It is the intent of the government body that the cost of providing such
goods or services to the students on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily
through user charges or cost reimbursement plans.
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Measurement Focus
Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources
measurement focus. With this measurement focus, all assets, deferred outflows of resources,
all liabilities and deferred inflows of resources associated with the operation of the District, are
included on the statement of net position {deficit). The statement of activities presents increases
(i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in the District's net position.

Fund Financial Statements

Governmental funds are accounted for using the current financial resources measurement focus.
With this measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities are generally included

on the balance sheet. Operating statements of these funds present increases (i.e., revenues
and other financing sources) and decreases {i.e., expenditures and other financing uses) in

net current assets.

Proprietary funds are also accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus.
Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting refers to the point at which revenues or expenditures/expenses are recognized in
the accounts and reported in the financial statements. It relates to the timing of the measurements
made regardless of the measurement focus applied.

Accrual

Both governmental and business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements
and the Proprietary Fund financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of accounting.
Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred.

Inventories are valued on a first-in, first-out basis.
Modified Accrual

The governmental funds financial statemenis are presented on the modified accrual basis

of accounting. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when
susceptible to accrual; i.e., both measurable and available, "Available” means collectible within
the current period (next fiscal year} or, for real estate taxes, within 60 days after year-end.
Expenditures are generally recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when

the related liability is incurred. The exception fo this general rule is that principal and interest on
general obligation long-term debt, lease obligations, compensated absences, postemployment
obligations and certain claims and judgments are recognized when due. During 2024, the District
made no budgetary transfers.

The District reports unearned revenue on its fund financial statements. Unearned revenue
arises when potential revenues do not meet both the measurable and available criteria for
recognition in the current period. Unearned revenue may also arise when the District receives
resources before it has a legal claim to them, as when grant monies are received prior to the
incurrence of qualifying expenditures. In subsequent periods, when both revenue recognition
criteria are met, or when the District has a legal claim to the resources, the liability for unearned
revenue is removed and revenue is recognized.
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Budgets and Budgetary Accounting
The District adopts an annual budget for the General Fund in accordance with law.

The budget is maintained on a modified accrual basis by fund, function and object, with expenditures
controlled by line item. Appropriations lapse at the end of each year and must be reappropriated

The School Board approves budget transfers between departments within District funds. Budgeted
amounts are reported as most recently adopted by the School Board.

l_egal budgetary control is maintained at the sub-function/major object level. The Board of School
Directors may make transfers of funds appropriated to any particular item of expenditure by legislative
action in accordance with the Pennsylvania School Code. Management may amend the budget at

the sub-function/sub-object level without Board approval. Appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal
period. Budgetary information reflected in the financial statements is presented at or below the level
of budgetary control and includes the effect of approved budget amendments. The General Fund
budget for the year ended June 30, 2024 was approved by the Board of Directors on June 20, 2023
in the amount of $20,931,917 with a tax millage of 103.67 mills for Clearfield County and 12.71 mills
for Clinton County.

Capital Assets

Capital assets, purchased or acquired with an original cost of $5,000 or more, are reported at
historical cost or estimated historical cost. Contributed assets are reported at fair market value as of
the date received. Additions, improvements and other capital outtays that significantly extend the
useful life of an asset are capitalized. Other costs incurred for repairs and maintenance are expensed
as incurred. Depreciation on all assets is provided on the straight-line basis over the following
estimated useful lives:

Building and improvements 15 - 60 years
Equipment and other capital assets 5- 20 years

The District does not have any infrastructure capital assets.

Assets under capital lease were recorded at the lower of the present value of minimum lease
payments or fair value of the asset, Amorlization of assets under capital lease is included in
depreciation.

Jointly Governed Organizations
Clearfield County Career and Technology Center

The District, along with four other school districts in the region, participates in the Clearfield
County Career and Technology Center (the Center). The Center was created for the purpose of
offering vocational and technical training programs for the benefit of secondary school pupils and
post-secondary aduits in the Clearfield County, Pennsylvania attendance area. The Centeris a
joint venture of its five member school districts. The Center is governed by a joint operating
committee consisting of members from each participating district. Each participating school
district must approve the Center's annual operating budget.

The District is obligated to pay a pro-rata share of the Center's operating expense based on the
number of students attending the Center. The Dislrict's contribution for the year ended June 30,
2024 was $739,987.

The District is obligated to pay a pro-rata share of the Center's debt service in the form of
semi-annual lease rental payments. The District made debt service payments to the Center
totaling $85,514 during the year ended June 30, 2024,

Complete financial statements for the Center can be obtained from the Center's administrative
office.

29



West Branch Area School District

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2024

Central Intermediate Unit 10

The District is a participating member of the Central Intermediate Unit 10 {CIU). The CIU is

run by a joint committee of members from each of its 17 participating districts. The participating
districts annually approve the ClU's annual operating budget. The ClU is a self - sustaining
organization that provides services for fees to participating districts. As such, the District has
no on-going financial interest or financial responsibility in the CIU, The CIU contracts with the
participating districts to supply special education services, computer services and acts as a
conduit for certain federal programs.

Compensated Absences

The Dislrict accrues accumulated unpaid vacation and sick leave and associated employee-related
costs when earned (or estimated to be earned) by the employee. The noncurrent portion {the amount
estimated to be used in subsequent fiscal years) for governmental funds is maintained separately and
represents a reconciling item between the fund and government-wide presentations.

Deferred Outflows/inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the District will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of
resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net position that
applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources
{expense/expenditure) until then.

in addition ta liabilities, the District will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of
resources. This separate financial statement element represents an acquisition of net position that
applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that
time.

Pension

The District provides eligible employees with retirement benefits through the Public School
Employer's Retirement System (PSERS), a governmental, cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined
benefit pension plan. PSERS was established as of July 18, 1917, under the provisions of

Public Law 1043, No. 343.

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pension and pension expense, information about the fiduciary

net position of PSERS and additions to/deductions from PSERS's fiduciary net position have been
determined on the same basis as they are reported by PSERS. For this purpose, benefit payments
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance
with the benefit terms and investments are reported at fair value,

Other Postemployment Benefits {OPEB)

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liabilily, deferred outflows of rescurces and deferred inflows
of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the
PSERS Health Insurance Premium Assistance Program and the West Branch Area School District
Postemployment Benefits Plan (the West Branch OPEB Plan) and additions to/deductions from
PSERS and the Wast Branch OPER Plans' fiduciary net position have been determined on the same
basis as they are reported by PSERS and the West Branch OPEB Plan. For this purpose, benefit
payments are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments
are reported at fair value,
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Governmental Fund Balances

The District classifies its governmental fund balances as follows:

Nonspendable - includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because it is not
in spendable form or because of legal or contractual constraints

Restricted - includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes which
are externally imposed by providers, such as creditors or amounts constrained due to
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation

Committed - includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes that
are internally imposed by the District through formal action of the School Board which do not
lapse at year-end

o The School Board of the District is its highest level of decision-making authority, and

o The School Board commits funds through a formal board motion.

Assigned - includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes that are
internally imposed by the District, but not through a formal action of the School Board

o The School Board of the District authorized the District business manager to assign funds
to specific purposes.

o The School Board passed a board motion authorizing assignments for activities as
contemplated by the Board.

Unassigned - includes position fund balances within the General Fund which have not been
classified within the above mentioned categories and negative fund balances in other
governmental funds

Restricted Net Position/Fund Balances

In governmental funds when an expenditure is incurred that can be paid using either restricted or
unrestricted resources, the District's policy is generally to first apply the expenditure toward restricted
fund balances and then to other, less-restrictive classifications - committed, assigned and then
unassigned fund balances.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

New Accounting Principles

The District adopted GASB Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022 and No. 100, Accounting Changes

and Error Corrections for the year ended June 30, 2024. GASB Statement No. 99 aims to improve the
consistency and comparability of accounting and financial reporting. GASB Statement No. 100 is
intended to streamline the reporting of accounting changes and error corrections and the related
disclosures in governmental financial reporting. The adoption of GASB Statement No. 99 had no
effect on the District's financial statements as of June 30, 2024; the effect of the implementation of
GASB Statement No. 100 is further described in Note 17.
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2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

At June 30, 2024, the District's cash and cash equivalents include deposiis with local financial institutions,
the Pennsylvania Local Government Investment Trust (PLGIT) and the Pennsylvania School District
Liquid Asset Fund (PSDLAF).

Pennsylvania statutes provide for the investment of governmental funds in certain authorized investment
types, including U.S. Treasury bills, other short-term U.S. and Pennsylvania government obligations,
and insured or collateralized time deposits and certificates of deposit. The statutes do not prescribe
regulations relaled to demand deposits; however, they do allow the pooling of governmental funds for
cash management and investment purposes. Act 72 requires all governmental (public funds) deposiis
not insured by the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation {FDIC) to be collateralized by the financial
institution.

GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures, requires disclosures related to the
following deposit and investment risks: credit risk, custodial credit risk, concentration of credit risk, interest
rate risk and foreign currency risk. The following is a description of the District's deposit and investment
risks.

Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the District will not recover its
deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside
party. The District does not have a formal deposit policy for custodial credit risk. As of June 30, 2024,
the carrying amount of the District's deposits with local financial institutions was $10,507,766 and the
bank balance was $11,424,865. Of this balance, $10,920,663 was exposed to custodial credit risk, as
these deposits were not covered by depository insurance. Rather, these deposits were collateralized
with securities held by the pledging financial institution, but not in the District's name.

Pennsylvania Local Government Investment Trust (PLGIT)

PLGIT contains assets invested in accordance with Title 24 of the Pennsylvania Statutes Article 4,
Section 440.1 (2001). Each participant owns shares of PLGIT, which invests the pooled assets.
Such assets are not considered deposits, and as such are not subject to custodial credit risk. At
June 30, 2024, the carrying amount and bank balances of the District's investment in PLGIT were
$9,019,750. Due to the short-term nature and liquidity of the investments held within the pool, the fair
value of the underlying investments approximates amortized cost.

Pennsylvania School District Liquid Asset Fund

The PSDLAF contains assets invested in accordance with Title 24 of the Pennsylvania Statutes
Article 4, Section 440.1 (2001). Each participant owns shares of PSDLAF, which invests the pooled
assels, Such assets are not considered deposits pursuant to GASB Statement Nos. 3 and 40,

and as such are not subject to custodial credit risk. At June 30, 2024, the carrying amount and bank
balances of the District's investment in PSDLAF were $1,060,946. Due to the short-term nature and
liquidity of the investments held within the pool, the fair value of the underlying investments
approximates amortized cost.
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3. Property Taxes

Real estale property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property on January 1. Taxes are collected
at a 2% discount through October 15; face amount due from October 16 through December 15; and 10%
penalty added after December 15. The County Assessment Offices calculate the yearly tax levy and
distributes the individual tax duplicates to the school district's appointed tax collectors. The tax collectors
are responsible for tax collections. Tax revenues are recognized in the period in which they are remitted
by the tax collectors,

The District, in accordance with GAAP, recognized the delinguent and unpaid taxes receivable reduced
by an allowance for uncollected taxes as determined by the administration. A portion of the net amount

estimated to be collected which was measurable and available within 60 days was recognized as revenue
and the balance deferred in the governmental fund financial statements,

4. Taxes Receivable, Net

A summary of the taxes receivable and related amounts at June 30, 2024 follows:

Property taxes receivable $ 918,133
Earned income taxes receivable 6,635
Total 924,768
Estimated uncollectible taxes at June 30, 2024 {235,703)
Total 5 689,065

5. Due From Other Governments

The amount reported in the governmental funds at June 30, 2024 as due from other governments is
summarized below:

Federal State Local Total

General Fund $ 608,818 5 1,059,689 $ 255,983 $ 1,924,390

Amounts due from the federal and state government are primarily federal grants and state subsidies
receivable from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Department of Education at June 30, 2024. The
amount due from local governments represents receivables earned by the District for vocational
education, but not yet remitted to the District as of June 30, 2024,
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6. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2024 is as follows:

Balance Transfer/ Balance
July 1, 2023 Increases Decreases June 30, 2024
Governmental Activities
Capital assets, not being
depreciated:
Land $ 12,292 % - $ $ 12,292
Construction in progress - 1,431,836 1,431,836
Total capital assets, not being
depreciated 12,292 1,431,836 1,444,128
Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 30,023,467 512,771 30,536,238
Leased assets 80,616 - 80,616
Equipment and other capital
assets 2,864,267 11,706 2,875,973
Total capital assets, being
depreciated 32,968,350 524 477 33.492 827
Accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (16,811,979) (672,130) (17.484,109)
Leased assets (36,557) (16,222) (52,779)
Equipment and other capital
assets (2,303,868} {134,291) (2,438,159)
Total accumulated
depreciation (19,152,404) (822,643) (19,875,047)
Total capital assets being
depreciated, net 13,815,946 (298,166) 13,517,780
Governmental activities
capital assets, net $ 13828238 §$ 1,1338670 § $ 14,961,908
Business-Type Activity
Capital assets being depreciated:
Equipment and other capital
assets $ 589,090 % - % $ 589,090
Accumulated depreciation for:
Equipment and other capital
assets (440,175) (24,137) (464,312}
Business-type activity capital
assets, net $ 148,915 §$ (24,137) % $ 124,778
Depreciation was allocated
as follows:
Governmental activities,
operations $ 822,643
Business-type activity,
food service 24 137
Total depreciation expense $ 846,780
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7. Accrued Salaries and Benefits
Accrued salaries and benefits in the General Fund totaling $2,264,883 represent salaries of $1,012,374,
the District’s share of Social Security taxes of $80,997 for teachers' services during the 2023-2024 school
term, which are paid during July and August 2024 and retirement plan expense of $1,171,512 applicable
to the accrued salaries at June 30, 2024.

8. Interfund Receivables, Payables and Transfers

At June 30, 2024, the following interfund balances were unpaid:

Due From Due To

General Fund:

Capital Project Fund $ 784,209 $ -

Food Service Fund 9,888 -
Capital Project Fund:

General Fund - 784,209
Food Service Fund:

General Fund - 9,888

Total $ 794,097 $ 794,097

Interfund balances primarily arise between the General Fund and Food Service Fund due to payroll
expenses being paid out of the General Fund and reimbursed by the Food Service Fund. Interfund
balances between General Fund and Capital Projects are for cost paid out of the General Fund for capital
projects related to the elementary renovations.

The composition of interfund transfers, used to move cash between funds at June 30, 2024 is as follows:

Transfers In Transfers Out
General Fund:
Capital Project Fund 3 - $ 107,000
Capital Project Fund:
General Fund 107,000 -
Total $ 107,000 $ 107,000

The General Fund transferred $107,000 to the Capital Projects Fund to provide funding for planned major
capital projects.
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9. Compensated Absences
Vacation

District employees who are required to work on a 12-month schedule are credited with vacation at
rates which vary with length of service or job classification.

Vacation {for most employee categories) may be taken or accumulated within certain limits and are
paid prior to retirement or termination at the employee's current rate of pay.

The liability for compensated absences, including early retirement incentives, recorded in the
governmental activities column on the statement of net position {deficit) was $259,895 at June 30,
2024. The change in the District's compensated absences in 2024 are summarized as follows:

Governmental Business-Type

Actlvities Activity
Balance, July 1, 2023 $ 264,010 $ 3,810
Increase 76,405 660
Decrease (80,520) (3,705)
Balance, June 30, 2024 3 259,895 $ 765

10. Retirement Plan
Plan Description

PSERS is a governmental, cost-sharing, multipie-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides
retirement benefits to public school employees of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The members
eligible to participate in PSERS include all full-time public school employees, part-time hourly public
school employees who render at least 500 hours of service in the school year and part-time per diem
public school employees who render at least 80 days of service in the school year in any of the
reporting entities in Pennsylvania. PSERS issues a publicly avaitable financial report that can be

obtained at www.psers.pa.gov.

Benefits Provided

PSERS provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Members are eligible for monthly retirement
benefits upon reaching (a) age 62 with at least one year of credited service; (b) age 60 with 30 or
more years of credited service; or (¢} 35 or more years of service regardless of age. Act 120 of 2010
(Act 120) preserves the benefits of existing members and infroduced benefit reductions for individuals
who become new members on or after July 1, 2011. Act 120 created two new membership classes,
Membership Class T-E (Class T-E) and Membership Class T-F (Class T-F). To qualify for normal
retirement, Class T-E and Class T-F members must work until age 65 with a minimum of three years
of service or attain a total combination of age and service that is equal to or greater than 92 with

a minimum of 35 years of service,

Act 5 of 2017 (Act 5) introduced a hybrid benefit with two membership classes and a separate defined
contribution plan for individuals who become new members on or after July 1, 2019. Act 5 created
two new hybrid membership classes, Membership Class T-G (Class T-G) and Membership Class T-H
(Class T-H) and the separate defined contribution membership class, Membership Class DC

(Class DC). To qualify for normal retirement, Class T-G and Class T-H members must work until

age 67 with a minimum of three years of credited service. Class T-G may also qualify for normal
retirement by attaining a total combination of age and service that is equal to or greater than 97 with a
minimum of 35 years of credited service.
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Benefits are generally equal to 1% or 2.5%, depending on membership class, of the member's final
average salary (as defined in the Code) multiplied times the number of years of crediled service.
For members whose membership started prior to July 1, 2011, after completion of five years of
service, a member's right to the defined benefits is vested and early retirement benefits may be
elected. For class T-E and Class T-F members, the right to benefits is vested after 10 years of
service.

Participants are eligible for disability retirement benefits after completion of five years of credited
service. Such benefits are generally equal to 2% or 2.5%, depending upon membership class, of the
member's final salary (as defined in the Code} muitiplied by the number of years of credited service,
but not less than one-third of such salary nor greater than the benefit the member would have had at
normal retirement age. Members over normal retirement age may apply for disability benefits.

Death benefits are payable upon the death of an active member who has reached age 62 with at
least one yvear of credited service (age 65 with at least three years of credited service for Class T-E
and Class T-F members) or who has al least five years of credited service {ten years for Class T-E
and Class T-F members). Such benefits are actuarially equivalent to the benefit that would have
been effective if the member had retired on the day before death.

Member Contributions

The contribution rates based on qualified member compensation for virtually all members are
presented below:

Member Contribution Rates

Defined Benefit DC Total
{DB) Contribution Contribution  Contribution
Membership Class  Continuous Employment Since Rate Rate Rate
T-C Prior to July 22, 1983 525 % N/A 525-6.25%
T-C On or after July 22, 1983 6.25 N/A 6.25
T-D Prior to July 22, 1983 8.50 N/A 6.50
T-D On or after July 22, 1983 7.50 N/A 7.50
Prior to
7.50% base rate THi24:
with shared risk 7.50; After
T-E On or after July 1, 2011 provision N/A 7/1/21: 8.00
Prior to
7M#21:
10.30;
10.30% base rate After
with shared risk 7Mi21:
T-F On or after July 1, 2011 provision N/A 10.80
Prior to
5.50% base rate 7i11/21:8.25;
with shared risk After
T-G On or after July 1, 2019 provision 275 % 7H/21.9.00
Prior to
4.50% base rate 7H121:7.50;
with shared risk After
T-H On or after July 1, 2019 provision 3.00 7/1/21:8.25
DC On or after July 1, 2019 N/A 7.50 7.50
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Shared Risk Program Summary

Defined
Benefit (DB} Shared Risk
Membhership Class Base Rate Increment Minimum Maximum
T-E 7.50 ¢ +/-0.50 % 5.50 % 9.50 %
T-F 10,30 +- 0.50 8.30 12.30
T-G 5.50 +-0.75 2.50 8.50
T-H 4.50 +-0.75 1.50 7.50

Employer Contributions

The District's contractually required contribution rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 was
33.36%" of covered payroll, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee
contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with
an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contributions to PSERS from the
District were $2,483,874 for the year ended June 30, 2024.

*This includes the defined contribution rate of 0.27% which is an estimated rate.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pension

At June 30, 2024, the District reported a liability of $22,421,000 for its proportionate share of the
PSERS net pension liability. The PSERS net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2023, and
the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by rolling forward
the PSERS total pension liability as of June 30, 2022 to June 30, 2023. The District's proportion of the
PSERS net pension liability was calculated utilizing the employer's one-year reported contributions as
it relates to the total one-year reported contributions. At June 30, 2024, the District's proportion was
0.0504%, which was an increase of 0.0009% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2023.

For the year ended June 30, 2024, the District recognized pension expense of $2,073,000.
At June 30, 2024, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $ 5,000 $ 307,000
Net difference between projected and actual earings on
pension plan investments 635,000
Changes in proportion and differences between District
contributions and proportionate share of contributions 383,000 323,000
Change in assumptions 335,000
District contributions subsequent to the measurement date 2,483,874 -
Total $ 3,841,874 $ 630,000

$2,483,874 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from District
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net
pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2025,
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Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related
to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Years ending June 30:

2025 $ 245,000
2026 (503,000)
2027 773,000
2028 213,000
Total $ 728,000

Changes in Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability as of June 30, 2023 (the 2024 measurement date) was determined by
rolling forward the PSERS' total pension liability as of the June 30, 2022 actuarial valuation to
June 30, 2023 using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:

e Actuarial cost method - Entry Age Normal - level percent of pay;
¢ Investment return - 7.00%, includes inflation at 2.50%;

« Salary growth - Effective average of 4.50%, comprised of inflation of 2.50% and 2.00% for
real wage growth and for merit or seniority increases;

e Mortality rates were based on a blend of 50% PubT-2010 and 50% PubG-2010 Retiree
Tables for Males and Females, adjusted fo reflect PSERS' experience and projected using a
modified version of the MP-2020 Improvement Scale;

« The discount rate used to measure the Total Pension Liability was 7.00% as of June 30, 2022
and as of June 30, 2023,

s Demographic and economic assumptions approved by the PSERS Board for use effective
with the June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation:

o Salary growth rate - decreased from 5.00% to 4.50%.

o Real wage growth and merlt or seniority increases (components for salary growth) -
decreased from 2.75% and 2.25% to 2.50% and 2.00%, respectively.

o Mortality rates - Previously based on the RP-2014 Mortality Tables for Males and
Females, adjusted to reflect PSERS' experience and projected using a modified version
of the MP-2015 Mortality Improvement Scale. Effective with the June 30, 2021 actuarial
valuation, mortality rates are based on a blend of 50% PubT-2010 and 50% PubG-2010
Retiree Tables for Males and Females, adjusted to reflect PSERS' experience and
projected using a modified version of the MP-2020 Improvement Scale,

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2023 valuation were based on the resulis of an
actuarial experience study that was performed for the five-year period ending June 30, 2020.
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The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns,
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation.

The pension plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested plan assets is established and may be
amended by the PSERS Board. Plan assets are managed with a long-term objective of achieving and
maintaining a fully funded status for the benefits provided through the pension.

Long-Term
Expected

Target Real Rate of
Asset Class Allocation Return

Global public equity 300 % 5.2%
Private equity 12.0 7.9
Fixed income 33.0 3.2
Commodities 7.5 27
Infrastructure/MLPs 10.0 54
Real estate 1.0 57
Absolute return 4.0 4.1
Cash 3.0 1.2
Leverage {(10.5) 1.2

100.0 %

The above was the PSERS Board's adopted asset allocation policy and best estimates of geometric
real rates of return for each major asset class as of June 30, 2023.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made

at the current contribution rate and that contributions fram employers will be made at contractually
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied
to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the District's Preportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate

The following presents the District's proportionate share of the net pension liability, calculated using
the discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the District's proportionate share of the net pension
liability would be if it were calculated using a discounti rate that is 1 percentage point lower (6.00%) or
1 percentage point higher (8.00%) than the current rate:

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Rate tncrease
(6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%)
District's proportionate share of the net
pension liability $ 29,064,000 % 22421000 $ 16,817,000
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Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about PSERS' fiduciary net position is avaitable in PSERS Annual
Comprehensive Financial Report which can be found on the PSERS website at www.psers.pa.gov.

11. Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

West Branch Area School District Postemployment Benefits Plan

General Information About the OPEB Plan
Plan Description

The District's single employer defined benefit OPEB plan, West Branch Area School District
Postemployment Benefits Plan (the West Branch OPEB Plan), provides postemployment benefits
for all eligible retirees who qualify and elect to participate. The minimum requirements of the West
Branch OPEB Plan are established by Pennsylvania Act 110 of 1988 and Act 43 of 1989. The
School Board could choose to improve upon the minimum requirements in the future. The West
Branch OPEB Plan is unfunded and no financial report is prepared. The West Branch OPEB Plan
is a single employer defined benefit OPEB plan administered by the District. No assets are
accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75,

Benefits Provided

The West Branch OPEB Plan provides the opportunity to purchase postemployment health
insurance benefits to employees upon retirement with 30 years of PSERS service or through
COBRA. Retired employees are allowed to continue coverage for themselves and their eligible
dependents in the group health care plan until the retired employee reaches Medicare age,
generally 65, as per their contracts.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms
At July 1, 2023, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving
benefit payments 9
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving
benefit payments =
Active employees 131
Total 140
Total OPEB Liability
The District's total OPEB liability of $3,088,579 was measured as of June 30, 2024, and the total

OPERB liability was determined by an actuarial vaiuation as of July 1, 2022, rolled forward to
June 30, 2024.
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Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs

The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of July 1, 2022,
rolled forward to June 30, 2024 using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs,
applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:

Interest rate 4.13%

Salary increases 2.5% cost of living adjustment, 1.5% real wage growth
and for teachers and administrators a merit increase
which varies by age from 2.75% to 0%

Discount rate 4.13%

Healthcare cost trend rates 7.0% in 2023 with 0.5% decrease per year until 5.5% in
2026. Rates gradually decrease from 5.4% in 2027 to
4.1% in 2075 and later based on the Society of
Actuaries Long-Run Medical Cost Trend Model

Retirees' share of benefit-related costs Retiree contributions are assumed to increase at the
same rate as the Health Care Cost Trend Rate.
However, the first year trend assumption was adjusted
to account for short-term rate caps

The discount rate was based on S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index at July 1,
2023.

For mortality tables the PubT-2010 headcount-weighted mortality table including rates for
contingent survivors for teachers and for all other employees. Incorporated into the tables are
rates projected generationally Scale MP-2021 to reflect mortality improvement.

Changes in the Total CPEB Liability

Total OPEB
LiabHity
Balance at July 1, 2023 $ 2914474
Changes for the year:

Service cost 130,689

Iinterest 121,318

Changes of assumptions 27,416

Changes of benefit terms F

Differences between expected and actual experience -
Benefit payments {105,318)
Net changes e 174,105

Balance at June 30, 2024 $ 3,088,579

Changes in assumptions or other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 4.06% in 2022
10 4.13% in 2023.
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Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate
The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District’s total

OPERB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower
(3.13%) or 1 percentage point higher (5.13%) than the current discount rate:

1% 1%
Decrease Discount Rate Increase
{3.13%) (4.13%) {5.13%)
Totat OPEB Liability % 3,309,839 $ 3,088.579 § 2,876,422

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates.

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District's
total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are
1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current healthcare cost trend

rates:
1% Healthcare Cost 1%
Decrease Trend Rates Increase
Total OPEB Liability $ 2,844,342 3 3,088,579 $ 3,373,318

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to OPEB

For the year ended June 30, 2024, the District recognized OPEB expense of $154,613.
At June 30, 2024, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Qutflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Benefit payments subsequent to the measurement date

(July 1, 2023) $ 99,486 $ =
Change in assumptions 329,826 808,284
Difference between expected and actual experience - 418,002
Total $ 429,312 $ 1,226,286

$99,486 reported as deferred outflows of resources, related to OPEB resulting from District
contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a reduciion of the net
OPEB liability during the year ending June 30, 2025.
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Years ending June 30;

2025 $ (97,394)
2026 (97,394)
2027 (97,394)
2028 (97,394)
2029 (97,394)
Thereafter (409,490)

Total $ (896,460)

PSERS Health Insurance Premium Assistance Program

General Information About the PSERS Health Insurance Premium Assistance Program

PSERS provides Premium Assistance, which is a governmental cost sharing, multiple-employer
OPEB plan for all eligible retirees who qualify and elect to participate. Employer contribution
rates for Premium Assistance are established to provide reserves in the Health Insurance
Account that are sufficient for the payment of Premium Assistance benefits for each succeeding
year. Effective January 1, 2002 under the provisions of Act 9 of 2001, participating eligible
retirees are entitled to receive premium assistance payments equal to the lesser of $100 per
month or their out-of-pocket monthly health insurance premium. To receive premium assistance,
eligible retirees must obtain their health insurance through either their school employer or the
PSERS' Health Options Program (HOP). As of June 30, 2023, there were no assumed future
benefit increases to participating eligible retirees.

Premlum Assistance Eligibility Criteria

Retirees of PSERS can participate in the Premium Assistance program if they satisfy the
following criteria:

s Have 24 ¥ or more years of service, or
» Are a disability retiree, or
» Have 15 or more years of service and retired after reaching superannuation age, and

For Class DC members to become eligible for premium assistance, they must satisfy the
following criteria:

s Attain Medicare eligibility with 244 or more eligibility points, or
¢ Have 15 or more eligibility points and terminated after age 67, and
» Have received all or part of their distributions.
Employer Contributions
The District's contractually required contribution rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024
was .64% of covered payroll, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with
employee coniributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during

the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contributions to the
OPEB plan from the District were $48,041 for the year ended June 30, 2024.
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OPEB Lliabllities, OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to OPEB

At June 30, 2024, the District reported a lability of $308,000 for its proportionate share of the net
OPEB liability. The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total OPEB
liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by rolling forward PSERSE’ total
OPERB liability as of June 30, 2022 to June 30, 2023. The District's proportion of ihe net OPEB
liability was calculated utilizing the employer's one-year reported covered payroll as it relates

to the total one-year reported covered payroll. At June 30, 2024, the District's proportion was
0.0502%, which was an increase of 0.0008% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2023.

For the year ended June 30, 2024, the District recognized OPEB expense of $29,000.
At June 30, 2024, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Changes in assumptions $ 78,000 $ 172,000
Net differences between projected and actual investment
earnings 2,000 -
Changes in proportion 26,000 26,000
Differences between expected and actual experience 6,000 9,000
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 48,041 -

$ 160,041 $ 207,000

$48,041 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from District
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net
OPERB liability in the year ended June 30, 2025. Other amounts reperted as deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPER
expense as follows:

Years ending June 30:

2025 $ (19,000)
2026 (20,000)
2027 (27,000)
2028 (29,000)

Total $ (95,000)

Actuarial Assumptions
The Total OPEB Liability as of June 30, 2023 {the measurement date), was determined by rolling
forward PSERS's Total OPEB Liability as of June 30, 2022 to June 30, 2023 using the following
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:

o Acluarial cost method - Entry Age Normal - level percent of pay;

* Investmant return - 4.13% - S&P 20 Year Municipal Bond Rate;

» Salary growth - Effective average of 4.50%, comprised of inflation of 2.50% and 2.00% for
real wage growth and for merit or seniority increases,

s Premium Assistance reimbursement is capped at $1,200 per year;
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+ Assumed Healthcare cost trends were applied to retirees with less than $1,200 in premium
assistance per year,

¢ Mortality rates were based on a blend of 50% PubT-2010 and 50% PubG-2010 Retiree
Tables for Males and Females, adjusted to reflect PSERS' experience and projected using a
maodified version of the MP-2020 Improvement Scale;

+ Participation rate:
o Eligible retirees will elect to participate Pre age 65 at 50%

o Eligible retirees will elect to participate Post age 65 at 70%

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2022 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study that was performed for the five year period ending June 30, 2020.

The following assumplions were used to determine the contribution rate:

s The results of the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2021 determined the employer
contribution rate for fiscal year 2023;

» Cost method: Amount necessary to assure solvency of Premium Assistance through the third
fiscal year after the valuation date;

¢ Asset valuation method: Market Value;

» Participation rate: The actual data for retirees benefiting under the Plan as of June 30, 2021
was used in lieu of the 63% utilization assumption for eligible retirees;

¢ Mottality Tables for Males and Females, adjusted to reflect PSERS' experience and projected
using a modified version of the MP-2015 Mortality Improvement Scale.

Investments consist primarily of short-term assets designed to protect the principal of the plan assets.
The expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using the OPEB asset
allocation policy and best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each asset class.

The OPEB plan's policy in regard to the allocation of invested plan assets is established and may be
amended by the PSERS Board. Under the program, as defined in the retirement code employer
contribution rates for Premium Assistance are established to provide reserves in the Health Insurance
Account that are sufficient for the payment of Premium Assistance benefits for each succeeding year.

Long-Term
Expected
Target Real Rate of
OPEB - Asset Class Allocation Return
Cash 100.0 % 12%

The above was the Board's adopted asset allocation policy and best estimates of geometric real rates
of return for each major asset class as of June 30, 2023.
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Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the Total OPER Liability was 4.13%. Under the plan’s funding
policy, contributions are structured for short-term funding of Premium Assistance. The funding
policy sets contribution rates necessary to assure solvency of Premium Assistance through the
third fiscal year after the actuarial valuation date. The Premium Assistance account is funded to
establish reserves that are sufficient for the payment of Premium Assistance benefits for each
succeeding year. Due to the short-term funding policy, the OPEB plan's fiduciary net position was
not projected to be sufficient to meet projected future benefit payments, therefore the plan is
considered a "pay-as-you-go" plan. A discount rate of 4.09% which represents the S&P 20 year
Municipal Bond Rate at June 30, 2023, was applied to all projected benefit payments to measure
the total OPEB liability.

Sensitivity of PSERS Net OPEB Liability to Change in Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

Healthcare cost trends were applied to retirees receiving less than $1,200 in annual Premium
Assistance. As of June 30, 2023, retirees Premium Assistance benefits are not subject to future
healthcare cost increases. The annual Premium Assistance reimbursement for qualifying retirees
is capped at a maximum of $1,200. The actual number of retirees receiving less than the $1,200
per year cap is a small percentage of the total population and has a minimal impact on
Healthcare Cost Trends as depicted below,

The following presents PSERS net OPEB liability for June 30, 2024, calculated using current
Healthcare cost frends as well as what PSERS net OPEB liability would be if health cost trends
were 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current rate:

Healthcare
1% Decrease Trends Cost 1% Increase
PSERS Net OPEB Liability $ 908,000 3 908,000 $ 908,000

Sensitivity of the District's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability, calculated using the discount rate of 4.13%, as
well as what the net OPEB liability wou!d be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is
1 percentage point lower (3.13%) or 1 percentage point higher (5.13%) than the current rate:

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
{3.13%} {4.13%) {5.13%)
District's proportionate share of the net
CPEB liability $ 1,027,000 $ 908,000 $ 809,000

OPEB Pian Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about PSERS' fiduciary net position is available in PSERS Annual
Comprehensive Financial Report which can be found on PSERS website al www.psers.pa.gov.
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12. Long-Term Debt

The changes in long-term debt for the year ended June 30, 2024 are as follows:

Balance Balance Current
July 1, 2023 Additions Reductions June 30, 2024 Portion
General Obligation Bonds,
Series of 2023 $ 99950 $ 9,785050 § (5,000) $ 9880000 $ 5,000
General Obligation Note,
Series of 2021 4,771,000 - (990,000) 3,781,000 1,006,000
Total debt 4,870,950 8,785,050 (985,000) 13,661,000 $ 1,011,000
Bond premium A 111,891 (4,476) 107,415
Total iong-term debt $ 4870950 $ 9,896.941 § (999,476) $ 13,768,415
Long-term debt at June 30, 2024 consists of the following:
$9,885,000 General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2023, due in
varying annual installments through March 2048, interest
rates ranging from 4.00% to 5.00%. $ 9,880,000
$6,880,000 General Obligation Note, Series of 2021, due in
varying annual installments through March 2030, interest
rate of 1.22%. 3,781,000
Total 13,661,000
Current portion 1,011,000
Long-term debt $ 12,650,000
Debt service requirements at June 30, 2024 are as follows:
Principal Interest Total
2025 $ 1,011,000 $ 444,078 $ 1,455,078
2026 1,023,000 431,555 1,454,555
2027 1,036,000 418,885 1,454,885
2028 499,000 401,629 900,629
2029 522,000 390,141 912,141
2030-2034 2,025,000 1,735,189 3,760,189
2035-2039 2,235,000 1,337,600 3,572,600
2040-2044 2,715,000 853,400 3,568,400
2045-2048 2,595,000 264,800 2,859,800
Total $ 13,661,000 $ 6,277,277 $ 19,938,277
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13. Lessee - Lease Liability

Governmental Activities

Final Maturity

Lease Liability Interest Original
Description Date of Issue Rates Indebtedness Balance
Copiers March 2021 - February 2026 2.0 $ 80,616 $ 27,837
Debt service requirements to maturity for govemmental activities are as follows:
Years Principal interest Total
2025 $ 16,565 $ 571 $ 17,136
2026 11,272 162 11,424
Total $ 27,837 $ 723 $ 28,560

14. Fund Balance Classifications

The District presents its governmental fund balances by level of constraint in the aggregate on its balance
sheet - governmental funds. The individual specific purposes of each constraint are presented below:

General Capital Projects Nonmajor
Fund Fund Funds Total
Restricted for:
Dental care 3 28,613 $ - $ - $ 28,613
Compensatory Fund 17,728 - - 17,728
Student activities 4,683 - 42,285 46,968
Capital projects : =i 8,389,763 - 8,389,763
Total $ 51,024 $ 8,389,763 $ 42,285 $ 8,483,072
Committed for:
PSERS and future building
projects $ 9055963 § - % - % 9,055,963
Assigned for:
Athletics $ 14,760 $ - $ - 5 14,760
Music 10,234 - - 10,234
Vehicle 9,100 - - 9,100
Total $ 34,094 $ = $ & $ 34,094

15. Nonmonetary Transactions

The District receives USDA Donated Commoeodities in the enterprise {food service) fund, which is a
proprietary fund type. These donated commodities are valued at an estimated market value and
recognized as federal revenue with unused commodities recorded as inventory. The total food
commodities donated by the federal government was $52,527 and the amount used by the District for

fiscal year 2024 totaled $45,668.
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16. Pending Changes in Accounting Principles

17.

18.

19.

The GASB has approved the following:

Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences

Statement No. 102, Cerfain Risk Disclosures

Statement No. 103, Financial Reporting Model Improvements
Staiement No. 104, Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets

District management is in the process of evaluating these standards. When they become effective,
application of these standards may restate portions of these financial statements.

Accounting Changes

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, changes within the District's financial reporling entity resulted
in adjustments to modify certain beginning fund balances, as follows, in recognition of the Capital Project
Fund achieving major fund status during fiscal 2024 as a result of increased activity:

June 30, 2023 Changed Within
{as Previously Financial June 30, 2023
Reported) Reporting Entity (as Adjusted)

Governmental Funds:
Capital Projects Fund {major fund) $ - $ 108,631 $ 108,631
Nonmajor governmental funds 140,729 (108,631) 32,098

Contingencies and Commitments
Contingencies

The District participates in both state and federally assisted grant programs. These programs are
subject to program compliance audits by the grantors or their representatives, The District is
potentially liable for any expenditure which may be disallowed pursuant to the terms of these grant
programs. Management is not aware of any material items of noncompliance that may result in the
disallowance of program expenditures.

Commitments

During April 2024, the District entered into a Guaranteed Energy Savings Agreement not to exceed
$1,700,000 for upgrades fo the boiler/boiler system and the automated temperature control system.

Subsequent Event

The District issued its General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2024 in the amount of $14,865,600 on
July 17, 2024, for the purpose of capital projects consisting of the design, construction of additions and
renovations to the elementary school and other capital projects and to pay the cost of issuing the bonds.

In December 2324, the District awarded a construction contract in the amount of $15,476,509 for its
elementary school alterations and additions project. The District also in December 2024 approved a
Guaranteed Energy Savings Agreement - Amendment 1 not to exceed the lump sum cost of $13,300,000
for select upgrades to the elementary school and includes complete plumbing, HVAC and electrical
renovations/upgrades to the school.
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Report on Internal Controt
Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance
With Government Auditing Standards

Independent Auditors' Report

To the Board of Directors of
West Branch Area School District

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial statements of
the governmental activities, the business-type activity, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of West Branch Area School District (the District), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District's basic financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated May 12, 2025. In our report, an emphasis of

matter paragraph was included, as more fully described in Notes 1 and 17 to the financial statements, to
address the District's adoption of a new accounting principle. Our report was not modified with respect to this
matter.

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

in planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and
was not designed fo identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.
However, as described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs, we identified a
deficiency in internal control that we consider to be a material weakness and another deficiency that we
consider to be a significant deficiency.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
interna} control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstaternent of the entity's financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. We consider the deficiency
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2024-001 to be a material
weakness.

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We
consider the deficiency described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item
2024-002 to be a significant deficiency.

Baker Tilly Advisory Group, LP and Baker Tilly US, LLF, trading as Baker Tilly, are members of the global network of Baker Tilly
International Ltd., the members of which are separate and independent lega! entities. Baker Tilly US, LLP is a licensed CPA firm that
provides assurance services to its clients. Baker Tilly Advisory Group, LP and its subsidiary entities provide tax and consulling services
to their clients and are not licensed CPA firms.
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective
of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing
Standards.

Purpose of This Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or
on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing

Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

Bton Tilly U5, 007

State College, Pennsylvania
May 12, 2025
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@ bakertilly

Report on Compliance
for the Major Federal Program and
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance
Required by the Uniform Guidance

Independent Auditors' Report

To the Board of Directors of
West Branch Area School District

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program
Opinion on the Major Federal Program

We have audited West Branch Area School District's {the District) compliance with the types of compliance
requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and
material effect on the District's major federal program for the year ended June 30, 2024. The District's major
federal program is identified in the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs.

in our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred to
above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the year ended
June 30, 2024,

Basis for Opinion on the Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAS), the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), and the
audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administralive
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our
responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance
with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for the major federal program. Our
audit does not provide a legal determination of the District’s compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above.

Baker Tilly Advisory Group, LP and Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, are members of the global network of Baker Tilly
International Lid., the members of which are separate and independent legal entities. Baker Tilly US, LLP is a licensed CPA firm that
provides assurance services lo ils clients. Baker Tilly Advisory Group, LP and its subsidiary entities provide tax and consulting services
to their clients and are not licensed CPA firms.
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws,
statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the District's federal
programs,

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Cur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the

compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on
the Dislrict's compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS,
Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it
exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material,
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by
a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the District's compliance with the requirements of the
major federal program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance,
we:

» Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e |dentify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
lest basis, evidence regarding the District's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to
above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

s Obtain an understanding of the District's internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in order
1o design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report on
internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control over compliance.
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal
control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Other Matters

The results of our auditing procedures disclosed an instance of noncompliance which is required to be
reported in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and which is described in the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs as item 2024-003. Our opinion on the major federal program is not modified with
respect to these matters.

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the District's response
to the noncompliance finding identified in our compliance audit described in the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs. The District's response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures
applied in the compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response.
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Qur consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal
control over compliance and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not
identified. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be
material weaknesses. However, as discussed below, we did identify a deficiency in internal control over
compliance that we consider to be a significant deficiency.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internaf control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or
detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal controf over compliance is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We consider the
deficiency in internal control over compliance described in the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs as item 2024-003, to be a significant deficiency.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures the District's response to
the internal control over compliance finding identified in our compliance audit described in the accompanying
schedule of findings and questioned costs. The District's response was not subjected to the other auditing
procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response.

The purpose of this repori on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of

internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

B Tilly 05, 27

Stale College, Pennsylvania
May 12, 2025

55



a5

%PTLS %L PG %¥l 05 %Vv8LG %00'?S %9955 WIL'¥S %L9€Y %Pe L9 %G8'19 Ayqen uoisuad (210 3 o
abzyusalad 2 se uomsod jeu Aeonply tetd SYISd

%LE'9LE %EY'OEE %09°TGE 6 05T %EV'ISE %t0'6EE %TEO5E %86 '68Z %5Z'C0E %9E'L6Z yosded sedopdwe-paieacd 5y jo sbejuscied € se
Angen usisuad jau ay) Jo aseys ajeuonsodold s8I0
LZPI0Z'9 & [25°0Z2'0 S ¥SO'PPE'O §  SAO'SELL  § OPL'Z0L'9 § 1907869 § EMEEROL § LES'0ZL 0§ veLMSTL § sOv'sess  § ftouded 8a40/duIs-paIaacd S50
0007296 $  000'8ZE0Z $ 000'SEY'PE §  (000'OMIST $  000'906'EZ §  ODD'TLO'ET § 000'8EL'YZ €  000'BEE0Z §  000'£00°2Z §  000'lZYEIZ § Aynaey uoisuad Jau au jo aJeys sjeuoqiodosd §1omsIQ)
%2600°0 %ESP'D SrEH00 L0600 %86¢0 0 %8050°D %Z0S0°0 %6500 %S6F0 0 %r0S00 Aypgen uoisuad tau aup 1o uoniodeid smsIg

{113 910z LHOZ 3 6102 0Z02 1zoz 0T £20Z ¥ZOZ

0€ UNr POPU SIBOA

{paypneun Aiqen Uoisusd 18N SH3Sd 34 JO s4eus sleuoniodold $19H1SI0 A 10 JINPAYDS

PUISIA [00UDS Basy UDURIQ JSOM



L5

%96EE WEYES LAY %LOPE %P0'SE %8TZE Holhed safoidwa-paisace
0 abrjuaniad £ se SUoRNqUIUOD
ObL'L02'9 $  190'Z86' §  BLE'EROL $ 185902 §  POLISTLI 0 SOP'SE9L 8§ Jioifed sadojdwa-palancd sousK]
& $ihis $3E= $xls- SEE [ ¥ [3 {ssaoxa) Aoueryep uopnquiucy
(890'8:2'2) (8£0'PEE'T) (€z5'88E'2) (ZLo'0st'2) (z86'zr5'2) {rL9'E5¢'2) uoINQUILCD pasnbad Ajjeroequod
JU) 0) uchejal Ul SUOHNGUILOD
890'8L2'7 ¢  OEO'PEE'T §  TG'8RC'Z $ TLOOGY'T §  ZRE'EYSZ  §  viQesrZ ¢ uoiNquILe painbal Alendequod
6102 0z0Z LZ0Z 20T £20Z $20T
0F 8unp papug siea)

{paypnBUn) SUCKNGIRUCT UOISUSY SHIAS SIOUISIC 3 JO SINDBUIS

PUSIQ |00UIS ALY YoueIg 1S3



BS

A10Z "0 aunr o] Joud siead 10) 9|QeBAR JOU §I BlRQ [2JON

V'S %EL'G %98'S 4%96'S %69°G %0E'S %98'9 %2 L Aunger 9340 =10 9 Jo
abeusoiad e se uogisod au Ausdnpl UBld S¥3Sd

%ZESL %8y YL %8P’ Gl Y%lt'GlL %0F'SL %2L9L %ESCL %0811 lioshed sakojdwa-pasanod sy jo abeuadiad e se
Ajrgen uoisuad 1au ayy Jo aleys ajeucipodold syomsig
#50'FPE'9 920'SE1L°L ovL'L0L'9 190'296'0 BLE'EP0L 185'002"L ¥91'482'2 SO0V'S69'L [lo:4ed @a401diua-palaiod s 10LsIg
000'¥30°L § OOO'EE0’L $  OOO'BE0'L §  000'9/0°L §  Q00'G80'L $  000'SOZL §  000'B0E $ 000808 $ Aujigel) 9340 19U WY 4o aleys sjeuciuodosd $3014510
Wy6r0'0 %2050°0 %86%0'0 »9050°0 %000 %8050°0 %PEF0 0 %20S0°0 Ajrrge) 8340 1eu ay Jo uouodosd sa1siq

1302 2102 6L0T 0Z0Z 1202 zzZ0Z £202 ¥Z0Z

0 sunp papus sieas
(paupneun) Ampaer 8340 19N SIS 34} 30 3.8y Sjgucipodoid §10U1SI] AL 10 BINPaLIS

Tt VISIQ [00YOS By YouRig ISaM



65

%880 %980 %080 %980 %98°0 %bE'0 %EFD %080 %9L0 %TY 0 lloshed aako)dwe-paianos
Jjo abejusasad e s SUCHRAUIUOD
Lgr'pes § 1Z5'022'8 % PS0'¥P6'9 8§ QUO'sSELL % orLiz0L'9 $ 190'286'9 § SLEB'EVO'L § 1BS'90Z'L $ PaL'isz'L $ GOv'S69°L $ liosAed aakoiduia-paiancd somsKg
3 S Wi T § B $rE. T - gifii- [ D P - g (sseoxa) Aouamyap uoyNgLIUOD
(+£6'v5) {re9'es) (862’55} {sz0"19) {000°8s) (c19'8s) (9E1°85) (Gzv'28) (892's5) (1r0'sr) uopnguuod paxnbes Afjeroenuoa
Bif} 0} LLONE[SJ Ul SUCHNALIUOD
¥EE'¥S $  vE9'ES $  66LSS § 52019 $  000°gS $  £19'8S $  9EL'8S § SIS §  98e'ss $ oSy $ uonnquyuos pasnbai Kjenjoequod
SL0Z 9102 1102 2102 6102 0202 1202 z202 £202 ¥Z02Z

Q€ aunr papu3 siesp
(paypneun) SUCKNQLIUSY B340 SHAS SIVLISIG Ul JO #NPBYDS
IDUISIQ [00YDS ALY Youedg ISSM




08

'suonduinsse SYISd MU U0 PISEq Piendn S1oM JUSLUBINS. PUB [EMEIPUNIM ‘AJjepow *AIejes Joj suondwnssy ‘pajepdn sem
uondwinsse pusl) ay), "vZOZ Ul %E1 v 0) £20Z Ul Wwesad 9480" 01 ZZ0T Ul %E8Z'Z O) LZOZ Ul %58} 01 0Z0ZT U! %9€°E 01 610Z Ul %86'Z O §10Z Ul %gL'¢ wou pabueys sjel Junodsip ay |

suopdwnssy jo sabueys

190N

‘age|ieA 10U S1 Jeak g0z ©) Joud uoneuLou|

‘8102 '0€ dunp papus 1ead ) BuLinp ¢/ "ON JuslislEls GSYO pajuawa|dwi jaumsig syl

%LITTY L2 8 %vl 6 %6% 95 %0625 %Zl ey %9 vy

6ROELL'. § 688'G/S9 $ 688'G.69 § 8292089 $ B28T089 $  GEVBLEY §  SEFGLEY  §

9EL'6LL'E $  QLOLLL'E $ L9114ZE § ErEeee't § RGeSt §  tiPWIE'Z §  6.5'880't  §

899°906'Z 9EL'6LLE 9/9'1LL'E 291122 £pe'ace's YS'8E6's vIF'YLEE

BBO'ELZ or6'LS 16¥'66 9/1'69S LOZ'Z0L (0z0'v20's) SOL'PLL

(084521} (0za'26) (551'66) (301 'S6} (99¢"L6] (608'€0L) {81£'s01)

SLLYS L0S'S (99126} QLP'ELY {z85'gLL) lggz Lig) gL'z

. (862'8L) - (£59'02) - {evL'zrw) e

F {s0p'vsL) - 3 - - -

8.8'ss ¥09'Z01 £84'86 ¥86'vLL eL8'vs 186'€6 SLELZL

81880 $ BSELIZ 0§ SZOLEL 0§ £8YTOZ 0§ MvESEZ  $ ZS96ET 5 689°0%L $
8102 6102 0zoZ 1Z0Z zz0z £Z0Z ¥Z0Z

l103Ae g aafo|dw3-patarod
30 abejuasiad e se Ajjqer) 9340 |0l

loaked safojduug-paloacs)
Buipug ‘A3pger] g340 1g30L
BujuuiBeg *Ayiqer 9340 [B10L
Aupgel §3d0 1230 i sbueys 1o
SUCIINQUIUOD JAGUIBW Jo spungal Buipnioul ‘syustuded Jyausg
suondwnsse Jo sabueyn
sousuadxa jerpe pue pajadxe usamlaq SaoUBIBLIQG
swira) Jauaq Jo sabueyn
1509 JsalIs)u|

JS00 B2INDG
Ajiqer 8340 1eol

0€ aunp papug SIBaA

(paypneun) ueld JOLSIC - SONEBY pajejex pue Aliger g340 (.10l u sabuey) jo ainpeysg

121381Q |00L IS BaNY ouRig ISIM



West Branch Area School District

General Fund - Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Change in Fund Balance (Unaudited)
Year Ended June 30, 2024

Revenues
Local sources;
Taxation:

Current taxation;
Real estate $ 4,248,744
Earned income tax 880,568
Payments in lieu of taxes 49,167
Public utility realty tax 4,627
Real estate transfers 150,317
Total current taxation 5,333,423
Delinquent taxation 168,024
Total from taxation 5,501,447
Earnings from temporary investments and deposits 553,876
Receipts from other LEA's 201,870
IDEA 237,975
Athletic admissions 31,090
Miscellaneous revenue 169,331
Total local sources 6,695,589

State sources:

Basic instructional subsidy 8,537,497
Vocation 62,799
Private placement 10,899
Drivers education 1,260
Special education 1,004,047
Transportation 1,144,775
Rental and sinking fund payments 43,268
Medical and dental services 10,512
Supplemental reimbursement 356,305
Social Security subsidy 370,017
Retirement subsidy 1,801,549
Other state grants 414,754

Total state sources 13,757,682

Federal sources:

ECIA Title | 507,391
Title 11 29,044
Title IV 31,059
ESSER 1,217,521
Medical access 1,181

Total federal sources 1,786,196

Total revenues $ 22239467
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West Branch Area School District

General Fund - Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Change in Fund Balance (Unaudited)

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Expenditures
Instruction:
Regular programs
Special programs
Vocational education programs
Pre-Kindergarten
Other instructional programs

Total instruction

Support services:
Pupif personnel
Instructional staff
Administration
Pupil health
Business

Operation and maintenance of plant services

Student transportation
Central

Total support services

Noninstructional services

Facilities acquisition, construction and improvement services

Debt service

Total expenditures

Excess of revenues over expenditures

before other financing uses

Other Financing Uses
Transfer out

Net change in fund balance
Fund Balances, Beginning

Fund Balances, Ending

62

8,089,580
3,361,772
825,501
268,401
50,742

12,595,996

585,027
495,414
1,113,031
468,395
326,394
1,867,405
1,231,685
237,086

6,324,437

504,919

42,096

1,368,448

20,835,896

1,403,571

(107,000

1,296,571

9,921,556

$

11,218,127
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West Branch Area School District

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
Year Ended June 30, 2024

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the Schedule) presents the faederal
award activity of West Branch Area School District under programs of the federal government for the year
ended June 30, 2024. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements
of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
FPrinciples and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards. Because the Schedule presents only a select
portion of the operations of the District, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position,
changes in net position or cash flows of the District,

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting for the
Child Nutrition Cluster and the modified accrual basis of accounting for all remaining programs. Such
expendilures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein
cerlain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Negative amounts
shown on the Schedule represent adjustments or credits made in the normal course of business to
amounts reported as expenditures in prior years. Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented
where available.

3. National School Lunch Program
The program amount for the National School Lunch Program is based on a set per meal reimbursement
rate. ;

4. Source Code and Grant Period Codes
Source code used in the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is as follows:

| = Indirect funding

Grant period codes used in the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are as follows:

A =07/01/23 — 6/30/24

B =07/01/22 - 06/30/23

5. Access Reimbursements
Access reimbursements for direct medical services are classified as fee-for-service revenues and
are not considered federal awards for purposes of the Single Audit, and are thus not reported on

the Schedule. The District's General Fund federal revenues inciude $1,181 of access reimbursements
for direct medical services.

6. Indirect Cost Rate

The District has not elected to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under
Uniform Guidance.
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West Branch Area School District

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2024

Section | - Summary of Auditors™ Resuits
Financial Statements

Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial
statements audited were prepared in accordance with GAAP: Unmeodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? X vyes no
Significant deficiency(ies) identified? X yes none reported
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? yes X  no

Federal Awards

Internal control over the major federal program:
Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no
Significant deficiency(ies) identified? X  yes none reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for the
major federal program: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? X yes no

{dentification of major federal program:

Assistance Listing Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster
84.425 Education Stabilization Funds
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B programs: $750,000
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X yes _ no
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West Branch Area School District

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2024

Section Il - Financial Statement Findings

Finding 2024-001: Internal Control Over Financial Reporting - Nonattest Services - Material
Weakness - Repeat of Prior Year Finding 2023-001

Criteria: Internal control is a process which captures and records transactions, safeguards your
assets and assures compliance with laws and regulations. One critical efement of internal control
includes preparation and review and approval of reconciliations and year-end adjusting entries to
ensure the books and records appropriately reflect the current year activities.

Condition/Context: As part of our audit of the District's financial statements, there were certain
bookkeeping adjustments that were precipitated by the audit process. Such adjustments increased in
both number and dollar value as compared with fiscal 2023. While we are pleased to provide these
services, you understand that you are responsible for the District's internal control over financial
reporting, which included:

» Proposed adjustments to real estate taxes receivable, allowance for uncollectable taxes, and
unearned real estate tax revenue

+ Proposed adjustments to interfund activity {Due to/from and transfers between General Fund
and Capital Projects Fund)

¢ Proposed adjustments to state and federal grants and receivables/unearned revenue
» Proposed adjustments to other balance sheet and income statement accounts

Cause: The District has individuals with the skills, knowledge and expertise to perform these activities
in-house. However, the transition within the Business Office at the end of June 30, 2023 and the
change in accounting software format, affected the District's ability to close the 2023/2024 fiscal year
in an accurate and timely manner.

Effect: The fact that you have requested our technical assistance with the above-mentioned tasks,
which are a normal and required component of internal control over financial reporting, constitutes a
material weakness in internal control over financial reporting.

Recommendation: As management continues to acclimate itself to the District's processes and
accounting software, we recommend working with the external auditors to gain a more thorough
understanding of the types of adjustments that were proposed and incorporating these concepts into
its year-end closing process going forward.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions: Management agrees and is working
to ensure the above tasks are completed internally. It is noted that there has been progress in this
area over the past several months as the new business manager has become more acclimated with
the software and processes.
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West Branch Area School District

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2024

Finding 2024-002: Internal Control Over Financial Reporting - Grant Financial Reporting -
Significant Deficiency

Criteria: The tracking and matching of grant revenues and expenditures and the related grant
receivable amounts is essential in preparing the District's Schedule of Expenditures and Federal
Awards (SEFA).

Condition/Confext: The District's system of tracking its grants was not fully adjusted at the time of the
audit and the SEFA had not been completed in order to determine the total amount of grant
expenditures as of June 30, 2024.

Cause: The District has individuals with the skilis, knowledge and expertise to perform these activities
in-house. However, the transition within the Business Office at the end of June 30, 2023 and the
change in accounting software format, affected the District's ability to close the fiscal year in a timely
manner and prepare a complete and accurate SEFA.

Effect: The District did not prepare a complete and accurate SEFA.

Recommendation: As management continues to acclimate itself to the District's processes and
accounting software, we recommend working with the external auditors to gain a more thorough
understanding on the preparation of the SEFA going forward.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions: Management agrees and working to
ensure grant reporting is complete in order to prepare the SEFA going forward. It is noted that there
has been progress in this area over the past several months as the new business manager has
become more acclimated with the software and processes.

Section Ill - Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

Finding 2024-003: Internal Control Over Financial Reporting - Grant Financial Reporting -
Significant Deficiency

Criteria: The tracking and matching of grant revenues and expenditures and the related grant
receivable amounts is essential in preparing the District's Schedule of Expenditures and Federal
Awards (SEFA).

Condition/Context: The District's system of fracking its grants was not fully adjusted at the time of the
audit and the SEFA had not been completed in order to determine the total amount of grant
expenditures as of June 30, 2024,

Cause: The District has individuals with the skills, knowledge and expertise to perform these activities
in-house. However, the transition within the Business Office at the end of June 30, 2023 and the
change in the accounting software format, affected the District's ability to close the fiscal yearin a
timely manner and prepare a complete and accurate SEFA.

Effect: The District did not prepare a complete and accurate SEFA,

Recommendation: As management continues to acclimate ifself to the District's processes and
accounting software, we recommend working with the external auditors to gain a more thorough
understanding on the preparation of the SEFA going forward.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Acfions: Management agrees and working to
ensure grant reporting is complete in order to prepare the SEFA going forward. it is noted that there
has been progress in this area over the past several months as the new business manager has
become more acclimated with the software and processes.
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West Branch Area School District

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2024

Section IV - Summary Schedule of Prior Year Audit Findings

Finding 2023-001: Internal Control Over Financial Reporting - Nonattest Services - Significant
Deficiency

Criteria: Internal control is a process which captures and records transactions, safeguards your
assets and assures compliance with laws and regulations. One critical element of internal control
includes preparation and review and approval of reconciliations and year-end adjusting entries 1o
ensure the books and records appropriately reflect the current year activities.

Condition/Context: As parl of our audit of the District's financial statements, there were certain
bookkeeping adjustments that were precipitated by the audit process. While we are pleased to
provide these services, you understand that you are responsible for the District's internal control over
financial reporting, which included:

» Proposed adjustments fo real estate taxes receivable, allowance for uncollectable taxes, and
unearned real estate tax revenue

» Proposed adjustments to state and federal grants and receivablesfunearned revenue
» Proposed adjustments to other balance sheet and income statement accounts

Recommendation: We recommend that management give consideration to performing the above
tasks internally.

Status: See current year finding 2024-001; this finding was elevated to a material weakness in
fiscal 2024.
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